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Chairman’s Statement

2018 was a highly productive year for Motif Bio plc and its wholly-owned subsidiary Motif Biosciences, Inc. (collectively,
Motif or the Group), most notably marked by the submission of a New Drug Application to the U.S. Food & Drug
Administration (FDA) for iclaprim for the treatment of acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections (ABSSSI) in
June. While we had hoped at this writing to be celebrating iclaprim’s approval, as you know, this was not the outcome.
Motif is now focused on working with the FDA to address the concerns raised in its Complete Response Letter (CRL) to
the Group with the goal of finding the best path to move iclaprim towards approval.

Taking a look at the “big picture,” there remains an urgent need for new antibiotics that can overcome resistance.
Focusing on this issue, in January 2019, the UK announced a five-year plan laying out three key ways in which the
government plans to take action against antimicrobial resistance: reducing the need for antimicrobials by lowering the
burden of infection in humans and animals; optimizing antimicrobial use in humans and animals through better
stewardship; and investing in research and development of new antibiotics, diagnostics, and vaccines. Antimicrobial
resistance is a critical healthcare issue that is recognized not just in the UK but also in the U.S. and around the globe.

With its targeted Gram-positive spectrum of activity, iclaprim has the potential to help address the problem. Such a
“precision medicine” approach is consistent with antibiotic stewardship principles which, among other things, seek to
reduce the inappropriate use of broad-spectrum products to avoid the build-up of resistance. Additionally, iclaprim
has a mechanism of action different from many commonly used classes of antibiotics and has been shown to have
potent bacteria-killing activity against Gram-positive bugs associated with ABSSSI, including MRSA.

In addition to the problem of antibiotic resistance, some patient population needs are just not adequately addressed
by currently available antibiotics. A good example of this and an area where we think iclaprim may help is ABSSSI
patients who have impaired kidneys, obesity, diabetes or other risk factors for developing acute kidney injury. Acute
kidney injury is of great concern because it not only increases hospital costs but also significantly impacts patient
health, including increasing the risk of death. We believe iclaprim has the potential to address these issues.

Financial situation

With a regulatory decision that was not what was hoped for or expected, Motif has had to take a hard look at its
financial situation.

A few days after receiving the Complete Response Letter from the FDA, Motif amended its loan agreement with
Hercules Capital and made early repayments in the amount of $7.5 million. The result was that Motif had to use a
significant amount of its available cash to pay down its loan. On the positive side, the amendment includes a three-
month interest-only period on the remaining loan, which was subsequently expanded to provide an additional month
of interest-only. In addition, Hercules has waived any prepayment charges for the life of the loan. As a result of the
prepayment, future interest and amortization payments will be substantially lower than before.

Additionally, in March 2019, Motif successfully raised $3.6 million in gross proceeds from an equity offering. Following
receipt of the net proceeds, the Group’s cash resources are expected to be sufficient to fund the business through
June 2019, allowing the Group to evaluate the formal minutes of its Type A meeting on May 3, 2019. Minutes are
generally provided within 30-days after the meeting. This gives the Group a bit more flexibility as it prepares to meet
with the FDA and discuss a plan forward for iclaprim. The Group will require additional funds to meet all obligations
and, assuming a viable route to approval, to resubmit an NDA and reach a new target decision date.

We have been very careful in managing our costs, even prior to receiving the FDA decision, while carrying out the
critical activities to prepare for an expected iclaprim launch. Motif continues to aggressively manage its resources,
which has been facilitated in part due to important additional internal controls and processes put in place during 2018.

Closing remarks

I would like to close by expressing my appreciation for the dedicated Motif team and to my fellow Board members,
who continue to play an active role in supporting management. | would also like to warmly thank our former Chairman,
Richard Morgan, for his guidance, support and dedicated service to Motif over many years since the Group’s founding.
And, lastly, | would like to thank you, our shareholders, for your belief in and support of the Group, especially during
this challenging time.

All of us on the Board continue to believe in iclaprim’s potential to help patients, and the Motif management team has
our full support as it works tirelessly to find a path forward for the Group and its antibiotic candidate.

Bruce Williams
Chairman
April 15, 2019



Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

The year 2018 was an incredibly productive one for Motif as we advanced toward our goal of bringing our antibiotic
candidate, iclaprim to the market. Unfortunately, in February 2019 we unexpectedly received a Complete Response
Letter from the FDA notifying Motif that the New Drug Application (NDA) for iclaprim could not be approved as
submitted. The Agency has asked for additional data to assess the potential for liver toxicity and we have a confirmed
FDA meeting date of May 3, 2019 to discuss the concerns noted in the CRL. We expect to be joined at the meeting by
two of our external experts and anticipate a collaborative discussion and hopefully will find an acceptable path forward.
We believe that iclaprim can be a valuable option for patients and their providers who are in need of new antibiotic
treatment options.

Addressing an unmet need and helping hospitals save money

There are more than 3.6 million hospitalized ABSSSI patients annually in the U.S. These patients often have co-
morbidities, including renal impairment, diabetes and obesity, that put them at increased risk for vancomycin-
associated acute kidney injury (VA-AKI). It is estimated that up to 360,000 hospitalized ABSSSI patients have moderate
to severe renal impairment or other risk factors for VA-AKI. Vancomycin is the most commonly used antibiotic to treat
ABSSSI, but it is not a good option for this at-risk portion of the ABSSSI population because vancomycin use can lead
to acute kidney injury. For these patients, better treatment options are needed to avoid progression to acute kidney
injury. Indeed, data published in 2018 showed that approximately 9% of patients hospitalized with ABSSSI and treated
with vancomycin developed VA-AKI, leading to an increase in mortality risk from 5% to 19% and an average longer
length of stay in the hospital of five days. That additional cost to treat VA-AKI is estimated at up to $17,000/per patient,
a considerable cost burden to healthcare systems.

We think that iclaprim may address this need. Unlike many standard-of-care Gram-positive antibiotics, iclaprim is
administered as a fixed dose rather than a weight-based dose. No dosage adjustment is required in renally impaired
patients, and no therapeutic drug monitoring is required. These attributes may help reduce the resources required in
hospitals since dosage adjustment by health care professionals is avoided and overall hospital treatment costs may be
lower, especially in patients at increased risk of developing acute kidney injury. This is a compelling story to bring to
hospitals.

Building the story through data

During 2018, Motif increased its presence at medical conferences, and there were presentations of iclaprim data at
several key events in both the U.S. and Europe. Data are an important way to reach the clinicians and hospitals that
may one day be customers and a critical part of raising awareness and understanding of where iclaprim could fit in the
treatment paradigm.

The final results from the REVIVE-2 Phase 3 trial were presented at the 28™" European Congress of Clinical Microbiology
and Infectious Diseases (ECCMID 2018) in the spring, and the pooled results from our two ABSSSI Phase 3 trials —
REVIVE-1 and -2 — were presented at the American Society of Microbiology (ASM) Microbe 2018 meeting. We also
presented analyses of important patient subgroups, such as patients with diabetes.

Data were also presented during 2018 on potential cost savings opportunities for hospitals by using iclaprim to treat
ABSSSI and to avoid costs related to VA-AKI. Data related to the high cost of treating VA-AKI were also presented.

Much of these data were also published in peer-reviewed medical journals. We also took the opportunity at
conferences to meet and talk with key medical and scientific leaders.

All of these activities are effective and appropriate ways of creating awareness and understanding of iclaprim amongst
the medical community prior to marketing approval. We will continue to present data at key medical conferences
during 2019.

Partnering

During 2018, a critical activity for us involved discussions with potential commercialization partners for the U.S. market.
Ultimately, we want to make sure that we have not just a partner, but the best partner in place to ensure we are able
to fully exploit iclaprim’s market opportunity. We are keeping our potential partners apprised of our ongoing
interactions with the FDA.



Maximizing iclaprim’s long-term potential

Securing approval in the U.S. for iclaprim remains Motif’s top priority, but that is part of a broader plan for iclaprim’s
long-term success. Preparations for the European regulatory process are underway and we expect to be able to
announce later in 2019 more details on the timeline for our Marketing Authorization Approval (MAA). The data
required to submit our MAA are almost identical to those submitted in our NDA and so minimal additional resources
are required to complete the pre-submission steps that the team has been working on. Once submitted, a decision on
approval is generally provided within approximately 12 months.

In 2018, we were granted two new U.S. patents that do not expire until November 2037. The patents relate to the use
of iclaprim to treat patients with bacterial infections, including but not limited to ABSSSI, hospital-acquired bacterial
pneumonia (HABP) and Staphylococcus aureus lung infections in patients with cystic fibrosis. We also have applied for
similar patents in other key territories.

While Motif’s focus must continue to be on the U.S., we see potential for iclaprim in other territories and have been
gratified to see interest from potential partners for key countries in Asia and Europe. We remain in contact with these
companies and are keeping them updated on our interactions with the FDA.

We also believe that iclaprim could have potential in indications beyond ABSSSI. This includes HABP, including
ventilator associated bacterial pneumonia (VABP), as there is a major unmet need for new therapies in this indication,
which has a high mortality rate. A Phase 2 trial evaluating iclaprim in patients with HABP has been successfully
completed and a Phase 3 trial is planned to start, subject to additional funding and likely with a partner.

Additionally, iclaprim has been granted orphan drug designation by the FDA for the treatment of Staphylococcus
aureus lung infections in patients with cystic fibrosis and is in preclinical development for this indication. In early 2018,
Motif received an award from the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation to fund important in vitro testing that may help to advance
the development of iclaprim in this indication. The Cystic Fibrosis Foundation is a leader in the search for a cure for
this disease. Patients with cystic fibrosis, especially in the later stages of lung disease, are often infected with multidrug
resistant bacteria, severely limiting treatment options.

Financials

We have completed two financings since our last Annual Report. In the spring of 2018, we completed an equity
financing of approximately $13.4 million in gross proceeds. Additionally, in March 2019, we completed a fundraising
in the United Kingdom, securing $3.6 million in gross proceeds.

Throughout the year, we carefully managed our expenses, and this cost control has increased given the setback with
iclaprim, including placing certain activities related to supply and pre-commercialization outreach on hold. We are
focusing our resources on the work needed to advance iclaprim towards a U.S. approval, including interactions with
the FDA and analytical work needed to address the issues that the FDA raised in the Complete Response Letter. The
partial prepayment of our loan with Hercules Capital is helping to reduce our cost base going forward because of the
resulting reduced monthly debt service. Our resources are expected to be sufficient to fund the business through June
2019, at which time we expect to have a clear path as to the steps necessary for the approval of iclaprim in the United
States. The Group will require additional funds to meet all obligations and, assuming a viable route to approval, to
resubmit an NDA and reach a new target decision date.

Conclusion

Let me wrap up by focusing on what | believe is Motif’s greatest asset —our people. We have a small but highly talented
group that has achieved much in a very short period of time, and | would like to thank all of them for their continued
hard work and dedication. During 2018, we were pleased to welcome Dr. Stephanie Noviello as our Vice President,
Clinical Development. Stephanie is a highly experienced clinical development executive, who has been invaluable
throughout the NDA submission and review process and as we continue to work with the FDA to address their
concerns.

I also would like to thank you, our shareholders, for your continued support of Motif. It has been a challenging time
for all of us, and we very much appreciate your belief in the Company and iclaprim. We look forward to keeping you
updated on our plans and progress.

Dr. Graham Lumsden
Chief Executive Officer
April 15, 2019



Strategic Report

Strategy and Business Model

Motif’s business strategy is focused on the development of novel antibiotics against serious and life-threatening
infections in hospitalized patients caused by multi-drug resistant bacteria. The Group’s lead product candidate,
iclaprim, is being developed for the treatment of the most common and serious bacterial infections, ABSSSI, including
those caused by resistant strains such as MRSA. Positive results from two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials in ABSSSI were
announced in 2017 and are serving as the basis for the New Drug Application submitted to the U.S. Food & Drug
Administration in 2018. On February 14, 2019, the Group announced the receipt of a Complete Response Letter from
the FDA regarding the NDA for iclaprim. The CRL stated that the FDA cannot approve the NDA in its present form and
indicates that additional data are needed to further evaluate the risk for liver toxicity before the NDA may be approved.
The Group’s request to meet with the FDA to discuss the points raised in the CRL was granted and a meeting is
scheduled for May 3, 2019.

If iclaprim receives regulatory approval in the United States, the Group expects to utilize a strategic partner for
commercialization. The Group does not expect to generate any product revenues from its iclaprim product candidate
until marketing approval is received and a commercial partner is secured. In addition, the Group expects to be able to
enter into commercialization agreements for other key markets, which could result in cash payments from partners in
the form of upfront payments, progress-based milestone payments and/or royalties on sales. Until the Group is able
to successfully commercialize iclaprim or any other potential pharmaceutical products, it expects to continue to
generate losses until revenues from these sources exceed operating costs. The Board expects to be able to raise
sufficient capital to support the Group’s commercialization strategy. The Group also believes that iclaprim can be
further developed to support additional indications, including hospital-acquired bacterial pneumonia (HABP) and
ventilator associated bacterial pneumonia (VABP). Although the Group has completed preparations for a global Phase
3 trial of iclaprim for HABP, including VABP, the commencement of such trials is subject to the availability of adequate
funding. The Group cannot guarantee that such funding will be available.

The Group’s goal is to help physicians to treat hospitalized patients with serious and life-threatening infections by
developing novel antibiotics, designed to be effective against multi-drug resistant bacteria as detailed in the preceding
paragraphs. The following table provides an illustration of our current product development pipeline related to
iclaprim.

Hospital / Acute

CRL from FDA received

in February 2019;
ABSSSI REVIVE-1 & REVIVE-2 trials Type A FDA meeting
scheduled for May 3,

2019.

Phase 3 preparations
HABP/VABP completed; funding
needed to initiate trial

Preclinical and

Pediatric formulation work
ongoing
Persistent / Recurrent
S. aureus lung Preclinical and
infections in formulation work
cystic fibrosis ongoing

Business Review
The Group’s results for the year are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss on page 40.

General and administrative expenses decreased by $0.9 million, to $7.6 million, in the year ended December 31, 2018
from $8.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. This decrease was primarily attributable to a $0.4 million
reduction in stock-based compensation, which was higher in the 2017 period partially due to a previously disclosed
out-of-period correction, and a $1.2 million reduction in legal, investor relations and other professional fees. This
decrease was partially offset by a $0.7 million increase in employee cash compensation.



Research and development expenses decreased by $18.5 million to $11.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2018
from $29.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. This decrease was primarily attributable to a $22.1 million
reduction in expense for our Phase 3 clinical trial program for iclaprim, which was completed in 2017. This decrease
was partially offset by a $3.6 million increase in costs relating to regulatory and clinical operating activities, chemistry
manufacturing and control requirements and other non-clinical development activities.

Net cash used in operating activities was $21.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, which reflects an
operating loss of $18.6 million, primarily from regulatory and clinical operating activities, including activities supporting
our NDA submission for iclaprim, and a $3.9 million reduction in current liabilities.

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $12.3 million and $22.7
million, respectively. Subsequent to December 31, 2018, the Group made early repayments under its Hercules Loan
Agreement of $7.5 million, as further described in Note 13 to the financial statements. The Group does not expect to
generate significant revenue from product sales unless and until the Group obtains regulatory approval for and
successfully commercializes iclaprim or future product candidates. The Group anticipates that it will continue to
generate losses for the foreseeable future as the Group continues the development of and/or seeks regulatory
approvals for iclaprim and any future product candidates and begins to commercialize any approved products.

Operations to date have been financed primarily by net proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares on AlM, the
issuance of American Depositary Shares on the NASDAQ Capital Market, the net proceeds of a Hercules Loan
Agreement entered into in November 2017 and, prior to the AIM IPO in 2015, the issuance of convertible promissory
notes to related parties.

Selected peer companies developing antibiotics, including Allergan, Melinta, Merck & Co., Inc., Nabriva, and Paratek,
are regularly followed and studied as benchmarks for clinical development timelines, product pricing, capital
requirements, financial metrics, and market positioning. Qualitative and quantitative market research are used to
identify and assess market opportunities for novel antibiotics.

Going Concern

As of December 31, 2018, the Group had $12.3 million in cash, of which $0.6 million was held by the parent organization
Motif Bio plc (or the Company). The Group also had $15 million drawn under its loan facility with Hercules Capital Inc.
(Hercules) as of December 31, 2018. Net cash used in operating activities was $21.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018. Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $14.0 million. The Group expects to incur
losses for the next several years as it continues to advance its product candidate iclaprim through regulatory approval
in the United States and Europe, while continuing to support ongoing business operations and commercial preparatory
activities. The Group is unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when the Group will become profitable, if
atall.

In February 2019, the Group received a Complete Response Letter from the U.S. Food & Drug Administration notifying
Motif that the New Drug Application for iclaprim could not be approved as submitted. The FDA has asked for additional
data to assess the potential for liver toxicity and the Company has a confirmed a Type A meeting with the FDA on May
3, 2019 to discuss the concerns noted in the CRL.

After receiving the CRL from the FDA, Motif entered into discussions, and amended its loan agreement with Hercules,
making early repayments amounting to $7.5 million and extended an interest only payment period through to June
2019, as further described in Note 13 to the financial statements. Furthermore, in March 2019, Motif successfully
raised $3.3 million in net proceeds from an equity offering. Following the aforementioned early debt repayment and
receipt of the net proceeds from the equity raise, the Group’s cash resources are expected to be sufficient to fund the
business through June 2019. The Group continues to evaluate the options for iclaprim and future funding through June
2019 and beyond when the formal minutes of its Type A meeting with FDA are expected to be published. Minutes are
generally provided within 30 days of the meeting. The Group will require additional funds to meet all obligations and,
assuming a viable route to approval, to resubmit the NDA and reach a new target decision date. There can be no
certainty that the results from the Type A meeting will be positive, or that additional funding will be available to the
Group and Company, and therefore the Group and Company may not be able to satisfy all obligations that may exist
at the end of June 2019.

To the extent that the Group and Company raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, its existing stockholders

may experience significant dilution. Any debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that impact the

Group’s and Company’s ability to conduct business and achieve its objectives. If the Group and Company are unable

to raise additional capital when required and/or on acceptable terms, the Group and Company may have to (i)

significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development and/or commercialisation of one or more product

candidates; (ii) seek collaborators for product candidates at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable and on
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terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available; or (iii) relinquish or otherwise dispose of rights to
technologies, product candidates or products on unfavorable terms that the Group and Company would otherwise
seek to develop or commercialize itself.

At the date when these financial statements were approved, the Group’s believes that the matters identified by the
FDA as communicated in its CRL are addressable and that routes to raise funds are available. As a result, these financial
statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Group and Company will continue as a going concern.
However, due to the Group’s and Company’s recurring and expected continuing operating losses, as well as significant
outstanding payables and accrued expenses, the Directors have concluded there is a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for at least one year from
the date of issuance of these financial statements. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might
result from this uncertainty.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The principal risks faced by the Group, and the actions taken to mitigate them, are shown in the table below:

Risk

Description

Principal mitigation

Lack of funding

The successful development and
regulatory approval of the Group’s assets
requires financial investment which can
come from revenues, commercial
partners, or investors. Failure to
generate additional funding from these
sources may compromise the Group’s
ability to execute its business plans or to
continue in business.

The Group has successfully engaged with
investors to generate significant cash
resources to date. The Group’s
Management Team expects that
continued access to capital markets, or
other access to capital, will be required to
support the Group through regulatory
approval and initial commercialization
efforts in the United States for its lead
antibiotic candidate, iclaprim. See Going
Concern discussion above.

Inadequate protection of
intellectual property (IP)

In common with other companies
engaged in pharmaceutical development,
the Group faces the risk that IP rights
necessary to exploit its research and
development efforts may not be
adequately secured or defended. The
Group’s IP may also become obsolete,
preventing commercial exploitation.

The Group actively manages its IP,
engaging with specialists to apply for and
defend IP rights in appropriate territories.

A Notice of Allowance was received in
2018 from the United States Patent and
Trademark Office for United States Patent
Application Nos. 15/586,021 and
15/586,815 for the method of use of
iclaprim to treat patients with bacterial
infections. The two method of use patents
will expire in November 2037. In addition,
the Group previously received QIDP
(Qualified Infectious Disease Product)
designation under the GAIN (Generating
Antibiotic Incentives Now) Act to provide
10 years’ market exclusivity within the US.

Outside the US, the Group will depend on
similar provisions from regulatory
agencies in different territories and on the
commercialization partners it is able to
attract.

Unsuccessful research
and development efforts

The Group may not generate further
attractive drug candidates and
candidates already in development may
fail preclinical testing or clinical trials
because of lack of efficacy, unacceptable
side effects, or insurmountable
challenges in conducting studies
adequate to support regulatory
approvals. Practical issues, such as the

In 2018, the Group submitted to the FDA
an NDA for its product candidate, iclaprim.
The Complete Response Letter received in
February of 2019 stated that the FDA
cannot approve the NDA in its present
form and indicates that additional data
are needed to further evaluate the risk for
liver toxicity before the NDA may be
approved. The Group's request to meet
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inability to devise acceptable
formulations for products or the inability
to manufacture products at acceptable
cost, may also lead to failure of
candidates in development.

with the FDA to discuss the points raised
in the CRL was granted and a meeting is
scheduled for May 3, 2019.

In addition, the Group is currently
evaluating opportunities to expand its
current product pipeline, which is subject
to the availability of adequate funding.

Regulatory delays and
setbacks

Drug development is a highly regulated
activity governed by different regulatory
authorities in different jurisdictions. It
can be difficult to predict the exact
requirements of different regulatory
bodies. Decisions by regulators may lead
to delays in development and approval of
drugs or lack of marketing authorizations
in some or all territories.

The Group’s drug development team
includes specialists in regulatory affairs
who consult with other experts to ensure
that internal control processes and clinical
trial designs meet current regulatory
requirements. The Group also engages
directly with regulatory authorities when
appropriate.

Unsuccessful
commercialization

The Group may be unable to effectively
commercialize or license its products to
partners or may not be able to execute
licensing deals that provide significant
revenues. Development of alternative
technologies or products may undermine
the Group’s ability to generate revenue
from commercialization of its assets. If
the Group’s drugs are commercialized,
they may not generate significant
revenues if their use and sale are
restricted by regulators or by failure of
healthcare payers to provide adequate
reimbursement of drug costs.

The Group consults with commerecial,
clinical, and scientific experts to assess the
payer and prescriber environment and the
potential impact of competing products or
changes in the economic landscape
pertaining to hospital infections. The
Group actively monitors the performance
of key competitors in terms of pricing,
market share, and prescribing behavior.

Unsuccessful recruitment
and retention of people

The Group may not be able to recruit and
retain appropriately qualified staff.
Facilities and other resources may
become unavailable.

The Group’s recruitment processes are
tailored to identify and attract the best
candidates for specific roles. The Group
aims to provide competitive rewards and
incentives to staff and directors and
informally benchmarks the level of
benefits it provides against similar
companies.

Risks associated with
Brexit

On March 29, 2017, the U.K. government
delivered to the European Council notice
of its intention to leave the European
Union (EU) by March 29, 2019, which was
subsequently extended to October 31,
2019.

Brexit could impair the Group’s ability to
transact business in EU countries. In
addition, Brexit could lead to legal
uncertainty and potentially divergent
national laws and regulations as the
United Kingdom determines which EU
laws to replicate or replace.

Any of these effects of Brexit, and others
we cannot anticipate, could adversely
affect the Group’s business, business
opportunities, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows

Brexit has already and could continue to
adversely affect European and/or
worldwide economic and market
conditions and could continue to
contribute to instability in the global
financial markets. The long-term effects of
Brexit will depend in part on any
agreements the UK makes to retain access
to EU markets following the UK’s
withdrawal from the EU.

The Group currently believes that the
short-term impact will not be material,
due to the Group’s limited operations in
the UK. However, the Group is uncertain
as to the potential capital market
implications of Brexit. The Group has and
will continue to monitor any potential
implications, if any, of Brexit leveraging
experienced financial and legal advisors.
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Risk of disruption to The Group’s third-party hosted computer | The Group routinely monitors the risks

information technology systems, or those of our research associated with information technology
(IT) and cyber security partners or other contractors, and cyber security and will continue to
consultants or future collaborators, may | monitor its third-party IT provider and
fail or suffer security breaches, which current and future collaborators
could result in a disruption of our drug implemented security measures.

product development programs and
planned commercial activities.

Key Performance Indicators

The Directors do not consider traditional financial measures, such as EBIT, to be key performance indicators at this
stage of the business. However, the Directors closely monitor the Company’s cash position. The principal focus of the
Group is driving the iclaprim product candidate through regulatory approval in the U.S., preparing and submitting a
Marketing Authorization Application (MAA) to the European Medicines Agency (EMA), as well as conducting other
activities that support commercialization and partnering.

Significant shareholdings

As of March 1, 2019, the Group was aware that the following shareholders each had holdings of 3% or more of the
issued share capital of the Group.

As of March 1, 2019 Holding %

Invesco Asset Management Limited(® 41,816,000 14.1
Sand Grove Capital? 33,264,087 11.2
Amphion Innovations plc® 25,254,611 8.5

(1) ATR-1 Notification was sent to us on April 1, 2019 by Invesco Asset Management Limited indicating 12.2% ownership position.

(2) This information as of March 1, 2019 is based on information contained in a TR-1 Notification sent to us on May 23, 2018 by Sand Grove
Capital Management LLP. A TR-1 Notification was sent to us on April 1, 2019 indicating a 10.2% ownership position.

(3) A press release was issued by Amphion on April 1, 2019 date indicating a 5.5% ownership position.

Environmental and Social Matters

The Directors do not consider the disclosure of environmental and social matters to be necessary to the understanding
of the business or its annual performance.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
It is not practical for the Group to obtain information on its emissions as information is not available.
Our People

At December 31, 2018, the Company’s Board was made up of eight directors (6 men and 2 women). The senior
management (namely, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Medical Officer) consisted of all
men. At the end of the year, there were 4 additional employees of the Company (1 man and 3 women).

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Jonathan E. Gold
Chief Financial Officer
April 15, 2019



Board of Directors

Bruce A. Williams, Interim Chairman

Committee Membership: Audit, Remuneration

Mr. Williams has served as our Interim Chairman since March 18, 2019. Mr. Williams has significant operational
experience in the pharmaceutical and biotech industries. He was an Executive Director of Ortho Biotech where he led
the marketing of this Johnson & Johnson subsidiary’s lead product Procrit (epoetin alfa) from pre-launch through to its
first years on the market, realizing US $1 billion of revenue. Mr. Williams was previously Senior Vice President of Sales
and Marketing at Celgene Corporation where he built the company’s commercial and distribution infrastructure to
support the launch of its first product, Thalomid (thalidomide). Mr. Williams was also previously Senior Vice President,
Sales and Marketing at Genta Incorporated where he led the negotiation of a licensing and co-development/ co-
marketing agreement with Aventis for the company’s lead product. The company realized over US $300 million in
proceeds from this agreement. Mr. Williams currently serves on the boards of Motif and Afaxys Incorporated. He also
chairs the Board of Trustees of Rutgers Preparatory School, New Jersey’s first independent school. With his wealth of
experience in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, as well as his marketing background, Mr. William
provides valuable operational and strategic guidance as Interim Chairman and Non-executive Director.

Graham Lumsden, Chief Executive Officer, Director

Dr. Lumsden is responsible for all aspects of the strategy, management, and operations of Motif Bio. Prior to joining
Motif, Dr. Lumsden held Worldwide Business Leader, Contraceptives and Osteoporosis at Merck & Co., Inc. where he
previously held other international senior leadership roles as well as senior marketing positions. Dr. Lumsden has a
proven record of success leading change and delivering results through cross-functional team leadership, including US
/ international sales and marketing, new product launches, pre-clinical / clinical development, regulatory strategy, and
IP strategy / litigation. Dr. Lumsden is a member of the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons (MRCVS), holds a
postgraduate diploma from the Chartered Institute of Marketing (MCIM), and is a dual citizen of the US and UK. With
his extensive industry experience, Dr. Lumsden provides valuable scientific, operational and strategic direction as Chief
Executive Officer and Director.

Jonathan E. Gold, Interim Chief Financial Officer, Director

Mr. Gold has been our Interim Chief Financial Officer since February 2018. He has a history of senior financial positions
including as a Managing Director of JEG Capital Partners LLC, a family office and asset manager. He previously was a
portfolio manager for the Federated Kaufmann Funds. Prior to that, Mr. Gold was a venture capitalist and was active
in financing and building life sciences and technology companies. Mr. Gold received his B.S. and MBA in Finance from
New York University’s Stern School of Business. With his professional financial expertise and business acumen, Mr.
Gold provides valuable guidance and strategic direction as Chief Financial Offer and Executive and Director.

Craig T. Albanese, M.D., Non-executive Director

Committee Membership: Audit, Nomination and Corporate Governance

Dr. Albanese has 25 years of clinical and administrative experience focusing on children’s and women’s health,
primarily at the Stanford Children’s Hospital, New-York Presbyterian Hospital, Morgan Stanley Children’s Hospital and
the Sloane Hospital for Women. He is currently Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer at New York-
Presbyterian/Morgan Stanley Children’s Hospital and Sloane Hospital for Women. He has had a distinguished clinical
career to date having published 161 peer review articles, contributed 57 book chapters, and risen to Professor of
Surgery in Pediatrics, Obstetrics and Gynecology. After receiving his medical degree from SUNY-Health Science Center
in Brooklyn, Dr. Albanese was a resident, and later, chief resident in general surgery at Mount Sinai Medical Center.
Following his residency, he completed pediatric general surgery and critical care/research fellowships at Children’s
Hospital of Pittsburgh. He also holds a Master’s in Business Administration from the Leavey School of Business at Santa
Clara University. As a medical doctor and a hospital executive, Dr. Albanese brings important physician and hospital
administration perspective in evaluating and overseeing our performance and strategic direction.

Charlotta Ginman, Non-executive Director

Committee Membership: Audit (Chair)

Ms. Ginman is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. She is a Non-executive Director
and Chair of the Audit Committee of Polar Capital Technology Trust plc, Pacific Assets Trust plc and Keywords Studios
plc. She is also a non-executive Director of Consort Medical plc and Unicorn AIM VCT plc. Ms. Ginman has held senior
positions in the investment banking and technology/telecom sectors. As three out of Ms. Ginman'’s six non-executive
directorships are with quoted investment companies that involve less time commitment than trading companies, Ms.
Ginman is able to devote sufficient time to all of her appointments. With her extensive financial and operational
background, Ms. Ginman provides substantial guidance and oversight to the Group’s financial performance and
strategic direction.



Zaki Hosny, Non-executive Director

Committee Membership: Remuneration (Chair)

Mr. Hosny is an independent consultant to life sciences companies. He spent most of his career at Merck & Co., Inc.
in marketing and general management positions around the globe, including management responsibility for the
company’s business in major markets in Europe. Mr. Hosny also held senior marketing positions in the United States
and several European countries in general management, marketing roles with worldwide responsibility for
cardiovascular and other franchises, and was closely involved in the clinical development of some of Merck’s major
products. Mr. Hosny was CEO of Motif from 2006 to 2013. Mr. Hosny is currently a Senior Advisor to the Albright
Stonebridge Group, a strategic consultancy firm based in Washington D.C. and a consultant to Harel Consulting of New
Jersey, and Mettle Consulting of the UK. Mr. Hosny is based in Princeton, NJ and is a graduate of Cambridge University
with a MA in history and law. Mr. Hosny provides a wealth of strategic insight based on his extensive experience in the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries.

Mary Lake Polan, M.D, Non-executive Director

Committee Membership: Nomination and Corporate Governance (Chair)

Dr. Polan is a Clinical Professor in the Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Sciences at Yale
University School of Medicine. Dr. Polan specializes in reproductive endocrinology and infertility and hormonal issues
related to gynecology patients and menopause. She received her bachelor’s degree from Connecticut College and her
Ph.D. in Molecular Biophysics and Biochemistry and M.D. from Yale University and completed her residency and
Reproductive Endocrine Fellowship at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology at the Yale School of Medicine.
Dr. Polan received her M.P.H. (Maternal and Child Health Program) from the University of California, Berkeley. She
served on the board of Wyeth Pharmaceuticals prior to its acquisition by Pfizer and currently serves on the board of
Quidel Corp., San Diego, CA and on the boards of several privately held life sciences companies. She chairs an SAB on
Women’s Health for the Proctor and Gamble Company and several other advisory boards of private life sciences
companies. She is also Managing Director of Golden Seeds, and angel investing group which invests in women led
companies. As a medical doctor and Clinical Professor, Dr. Polan brings an important practicing physician perspective
in evaluating and overseeing the Company’s performance and strategic direction.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Group, together with the financial statements and auditors’
report, for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Principal Activities
Motif Bio plc is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company specialising in the development of novel antibiotics that are
designed to be effective against serious and life-threatening infections caused by multi-drug resistant bacteria.

Business and Strategic Review

The information that fulfills the requirements of the business review, including details of the results for the year ended
December 31, 2018, principal risks and uncertainties, and the outlook for future years, are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement, Chief Executive Officer’s Statement, and the Strategic Report on pages 1-8.

Future Developments
Motif’s future development objectives for 2019 are disclosed in the Chairman’s Statement and Chief Executive Officer’s
Statement on pages 1-3.

Capital Structure

The capital structure is intended to support the Group’s business and maximize shareholder value. It includes the monitoring
of cash balances, available bank facilities, and cash flows. No material changes were made to these objectives, policies, or
processes during the year ended December 31, 2018.

Share Capital

Information relating to changes in the issued share capital during the year is given in Note 16 to the financial statements.
Subsequent to December 31, 2018, the Group issued share capital that significantly increase the outstanding issued shares,
as further described in Note 20 to the financial statements.

Results and Dividends

The consolidated statement of comprehensive loss is set out on page 40. The Group’s loss after taxation amounted to US
$14.0 million (2017: US $44.8 million). A review of 2018 financial is included in the Business Review section of the Strategic
Report on pages 4-5.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a dividend for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Directors
The Directors of the Group are shown on pages 9-10. All Directors were engaged for the whole year except for Robert
Bertoldi who resigned on July 16, 2018. Post year-end, Richard Morgan resigned from the Board on March 18, 2019.

The emoluments and interests of the Directors in the shares of the Group are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
on pages 27 to 28.

Details of significant events since the end of the reporting period are contained in Note 20 to the financial statements.

The Directors, who served throughout the year (unless otherwise noted) and to the date of signing the financial statements,
were as follows:

Mr. Richard Morgan (until March 18, 2019)
Dr. Craig Albanese

Mr. Robert Bertoldi (until July 16, 2018)
Ms. Charlotta Ginman

Mr. Jonathan Gold

Mr. Zaki Hosny

Dr. Graham Lumsden

Dr. Mary Lake Polan

Mr. Bruce Williams

Ms. Charlotta Ginman and Dr. Craig Albanese will retire by rotation at the Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Indemnities

The Group is empowered to indemnify its Directors and Officers against any liability they incur by reason of their directorship
or position as an officer. The Group had maintained third party insurance, for the benefit of its Directors and Officers,
throughout the year and remains in force at the date of this report.
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have
prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union and company financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. Under
company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and Company for that period. In
preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed for the Group financial statements
and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed for the company financial statements, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

e  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

e  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and
company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group
and Company transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors consider that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s and Company’s performance, business model and
strategy.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the Annual Report and Accounts, confirms that, to the best of
his or her knowledge:

e the Company financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the Company;

e the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the Group; and

e the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the
Group and Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

Auditors
Each person who is a Director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that:

e sofar as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditors are unaware; and
e the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act
2006.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has expressed its willingness to continue in office as auditors and a resolution to reappoint
them will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

Dr. Graham Lumsden
Chief Executive Officer
April 15, 2019
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Corporate Governance Report
Dear Shareholders,

As Interim Chairman of the Board of Directors of Motif Bio plc and its wholly-owned subsidiary Motif Biosciences, Inc., it is
my responsibility to ensure that Motif practices sound corporate governance and that the Board operates effectively. The
Chairman’s principal responsibilities are to ensure that Motif and its Board are acting in the best interests of its shareholders.
My leadership of the Board is undertaken in a manner which ensures that the Board retains integrity and effectiveness, whilst
creating the right Board dynamic for ensuring that all strategic decisions receive adequate time and discussion at Board
meetings.

Motif has adopted the Quoted Companies Alliance (QCA) Corporate Governance Code for Small and Mid-Size Quoted
Companies (the Code). The Board considers that Motif complies with the Code so far as is practicable, having regard to the
Company’s size, Board structure, stage of development and resources. This Report follows the QCA guidelines and details
how the Group has applied the guidance.

The Board believes that corporate governance is more than just a set of guidelines; rather it is a framework which underpins
the core values for running the business in which we all believe, including a commitment to open and transparent
communications with stakeholders. We believe that good corporate governance improves long-term success and
performance, whilst simultaneously managing risks and provides an underlying framework of commitment and transparent
communications with stakeholders.

The Group constantly seeks to improve its corporate governance practices, illustrated this year through a change in the
composition of the Remuneration Committee (now two members, both Independent Non-Executive Directors), the adoption
of a schedule of matters reserved for the Board and the design of an official Board evaluation process. Governance matters
that have changed in the past financial year include the resignation of Robert Bertoldi as Non-executive Director in July 2018,
the change of the Group’s Secretary and Jonathan Gold’s transition from Non-executive Director to Interim Chief Financial
Officer. Post year-end, it was announced that Richard Morgan, the Company’s Non-Independent Executive Chairman,
resigned from the Board on March 18, 2019. | succeeded Mr. Morgan as Interim Non-Executive Chairman, as of that date.
The Board would like to express its thanks to Richard and Robert for their immense contributions to the development of the
Company.

Strategy, Risk Management and Internal Controls
A description of the Company’s business model and strategy can be found in the Strategic Report, and the key challenges in
their execution are set out on pages 6 to 8.

The Board attaches considerable importance to the Group’s system of internal control and risk management. An ongoing
process has been established for identifying, evaluating, and managing the significant risks faced by the Group. The Board
regularly reviews this process as part of its review of such risks within its meetings. Where any weaknesses are identified, if
appropriate, an action plan is prepared to address the issues and is then implemented.

Risk management is integral to the ability of the Group to deliver on its strategic objectives. The internal controls and risk
management system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s strategic
objectives and can only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. Each year
the Board approves the annual budget and key risk areas are identified, reviewed, and monitored. Performance is monitored
against budget, relevant action is taken throughout the year, and updated forecasts are prepared as appropriate. Whilst the
Board oversees and regularly reviews the current risk management and internal control mechanisms, it has also delegated
this responsibility to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee continually reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s financial internal controls and risk management systems.

In common with companies of similar size and development, the Group has a small and developing internal financial control
environment. Two “material weaknesses”, as defined by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the "PCAOB") in
the US, have been identified: the Group did not maintain effective internal controls to ensure that processing and reporting
of valid transactions was complete, accurate, and timely; and secondly, because the Group has limited accounting personnel,
this did not allow for appropriate monitoring of internal control over financial reporting.

In connection with our 2017 interim consolidated financial statements, these control deficiencies resulted in adjustments to
stock-based compensation expense and certain accrued liabilities. In addition, these control deficiencies resulted in an
adjustment to our volatility percentage used to remeasure our warrant liability at December 31, 2018. Although these
control deficiencies did not impact our cash flow for the year ending December 31, 2018 and did not result in any adjustment
as of December 31, 2017, a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements may not be
prevented or detected until the control deficiencies are remediated. Accordingly, our management has determined that
these control deficiencies constitute material weaknesses. In an effort to remediate these material weaknesses, we have
retained experienced accounting and finance personnel and have implemented certain process improvements in our internal
control over financial reporting. We are planning additional substantial changes in our internal control over financial
reporting, as we continue to remediate these material weaknesses during the ensuing periods.
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Further details on the Group’s risk management and internal controls can be found in the Strategy and Audit Committee
Reports.

The Board

At the date of this Report, the Board has seven members, whose biographies and roles are set out on pages 9 to 10. Post
year-end, Richard Morgan, the Group’s Non-Independent Executive Chairman, resigned from the Board and was succeeded
by me as Interim Non-Executive Chairman on March 18, 2019.

The Board meets regularly, generally six times in the year, with two meetings per year in person and four meetings per year
telephonically, and a calendar of meetings is agreed at the beginning of each year. The Directors also hold additional meetings
telephonically as and when required. The responsibilities of the Board include setting annual budgets, reviewing trading
performance, approving significant capital expenditure, ensuring adequate funding, approving and monitoring strategy, and
reporting to shareholders. The Directors believe that the Board, as a whole, has a broad range of commercial, personal and
professional skills, providing the ability to deliver the Company’s strategy for the benefit of shareholders over the medium
and long-term.

Each year, one-third of the Board will retire by rotation and offer themselves for re-election in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association.

Non-executive Directors and Independence

The Non-executive Directors have a particular responsibility to ensure that the strategies proposed by the Executive Directors
are fully considered. The Board believes that the Non-Executive Directors, together, have a sufficient range of experience
and skills to enable them to provide the necessary guidance, oversight and advice for the Board to operate effectively. All
Directors are encouraged to use their independent judgement and to challenge all matters, whether strategic or operational.

The Board is satisfied that there is a suitable balance between independence, on the one hand, and direct managerial and
operational knowledge of the Company, on the other, to ensure that no individual or group may dominate the Board’s
decisions. As at the year ended December 31, 2018, the Board comprised of three Non-Independent Directors; the CEO,
Graham Lumsden, the Interim CFO, Jonathan Gold and the Non-executive Chairman, Richard Morgan. Richard Morgan is not
considered to be Independent due to his directorship of a significant shareholder and related party. Zaki Hosny, as former
CEO of Motif, Inc., a subsidiary of the Company, is considered Independent by the Board given the length of time that has
elapsed since he performed that function (6 years), and also given the Company’s change of strategy through the merger
with Nuprim in 2014. The remaining Board members are all considered Independent. Post year-end, the Company has
appointed an Independent Interim Chairman.

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings

The Executive Directors work full time for the Company. The Non-executive Directors are each expected to dedicate not less
than 18 days per annum to the Company’s affairs. There were 9 scheduled Board meetings and 10 additional board
meetings/calls held during 2018. The table below sets out attendance statistics for each Director at Board, and where
relevant, Committee meetings held during the financial year.

. . Remuneration Nomination
Director Board Audit Committee Committee Committee
(9 meetings held) (4 meetings held) (11 meetings held) (2 meeting held)
Graham Lumsden 19/19 - - R
Jonathan Gold 18/19 - - R
Bruce Williams 18/19 4/4 11 -
Charlotta Ginman 18/19 4/4 - -
Zaki Hosny 18/19 - 11 R
Dr. Craig Albanese®™ 11/19 4/4 - 2/2
Dr. Mary Lake Polan 18/19 - - 2/2
Richard Morgan® 18/19 - 11 -
Robert Bertoldi®? 6/7 - - R

(1) Dr. Craig Albanese was at times unable to attend meetings due to his commitments at New York-Presbyterian/Morgan Stanley
Children’s Hospital and Sloane Hospital for Women. However, he reviewed materials for all meetings and provided input and
advice for Board decisions. The Board and Management greatly appreciate his valuable insight and knowledge as a senior
hospital administrator.

2} Mr. Morgan and Mr. Bertoldi left the Board on March 18, 2019 and July 16, 2018, respectively
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Board Committees

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to three committees of the Board: Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
and Corporate Governance. The membership of these committees and a summary of their main duties under their Terms of
Reference are set out below. The full Terms of Reference may be viewed on the Group’s website (www.motifbio.com). The
Terms of Reference for each of the Committees are reviewed annually to ensure continued compliance with best practice.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is chaired by Charlotta Ginman, an Independent Non-executive Director. The other members during
2018 were Bruce Williams, Interim Chairman of the Board, and Dr. Craig Albanese, an Independent Non-executive Director.
The Audit Committee meets at least three times a year. The Audit Committee met four times in 2018. The Company’s
external auditors and Executive Directors attend the Committee’s meetings by invitation and the Committee ensures that
the auditors also have an opportunity to speak to the Committee in the absence of management. The Audit Committee,
within its regularly reviewed Terms of Reference, is responsible for reviewing the half-year and annual financial statements,
interim management statements, preliminary results announcements, and any other formal announcements or
presentations relating to the Group’s financial performance. The Audit Committee also reviews significant financial returns
to regulators and any financial information covered in certain other documents such as announcements of a price sensitive
nature. The Audit Committee oversees the appointment and, if appropriate, the removal of the external auditor, sets the
auditors’ remuneration (both for audit and non-audit work) and discusses the nature, scope, and results of the audit with
the auditors. The Audit Committee reviews the extent of the non-audit services provided by the auditors and reviews with
them their independence and objectivity. The Chairman of the Audit Committee reports the outcome of the Audit
Committee meetings to the Board and the Board receives the minutes of the meetings.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Zaki Hosny, an Independent Non-executive Director. The other member is Bruce
Williams, Interim Chairman of the Board. The vacancy on the Remuneration Committee resulting from the resignation of
Richard Morgan on March 18, 2019 is expected to be filled later in 2019. The Remuneration Committee meets at least three
times a year. The Remuneration Committee met eleven times in 2018. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for
making recommendations to the Board, within agreed Terms of Reference, on the Group’s framework of executive
remuneration and its cost. The Committee determines the contract terms, remuneration, and other benefits for each of the
Executive Directors, including performance related bonus schemes and pension rights. Further details of the Group’s policies
on remuneration and service contracts are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 20.

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee (the Nomination Committee) is chaired by Dr. Mary Lake Polan, an
Independent Non-executive Director. The other member is Dr. Craig Albanese, an Independent Non-executive Director. The
Nomination Committee is required to meet two times a year. The Nomination Committee met twice in 2018. The Nomination
Committee monitors the size and composition of the Board of Directors and the other committees and gives full
consideration to succession planning and identifying suitable Board candidates. Dr. Craig Albanese was appointed to the
Nomination Committee on April 9, 2018.

Advisers

The Board has regular contact with its advisers to ensure that it is aware of changes to corporate governance procedures and
requirements and that the Group remains consistently compliant with applicable rules and regulations. In the year 2018, the
Group sought external advice regarding general governance arrangements and compliance with the Code.

The Chairman and Non-executive Directors endeavor to ensure that their knowledge of best practices and regulatory
developments is continually up-to-date by attending relevant seminars and conferences. All Directors may receive
Independent professional advice at Motif’'s expense, if necessary, for the performance of their duties.

Board Evaluation

The Board has recently designed an annual internal Board and Committee evaluation exercise to be led by the Chairman of
the Board. The areas of evaluation covered include Board structure and knowledge, operating effectiveness, operating
efficiency, quality of information and ongoing professional development. Individual reviews of the performance of Non-
executive Directors will also be carried out by the Chairman, and the Non-executive Directors will undertake a review of the
Chairman’s performance in return. Responses will be received, recorded and circulated in a timely fashion, identifying
positive areas of performance and areas for improvement. Subsequently, the Board will identify steps to ensure it is at fully
functioning potential. The Board plans to conduct its evaluation exercise in 2019.

The results and recommendations that come out of the appraisals for the Executive Directors shall identify the key corporate
and financial targets that are relevant to each Director and their personal targets in terms of career development and
training. Targets will be addressed during the 2019 financial year and will be used to assess the progress of the Board in
future evaluation exercises.

Reviewing the composition of the Board as a whole, along with succession planning, is the responsibility of the Nomination
Committee.
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Company Culture

The Board recognizes that its decisions regarding strategy and risk will impact the corporate culture of the Company and that
this, in turn, will impact the Company’s performance. The Board is aware that the tone and culture set by the Board will
greatly impact all aspects of the Company as a whole. The corporate governance arrangements that the Board has adopted
are designed to ensure that the Company delivers long term value to its shareholders, and that shareholders have the
opportunity to express their views and expectations for the Company in a manner that encourages open dialogue with the
Board.

A large part of the Group’s activities is centered upon an open and respectful dialogue with employees, clients and other key
stakeholders. Therefore, the importance of sound ethical values and behaviors is crucial to the ability of the Group to
successfully achieve its corporate objectives. The Board places great importance on this aspect of corporate life and seeks to
ensure that this flows through all that the Group does. The Directors consider that at present the Group has an open culture
facilitating comprehensive dialogue and feedback whilst enabling positive and constructive challenge.

The Group has adopted a code for Directors’ and employees’ dealings in securities which is appropriate for a company whose
securities are traded on AIM and is in accordance with the requirements of the Market Abuse Regulation which came into
effect in 2016. The Group is not looking to implement an employee engagement survey, due to the size, nature and current
stage of development of the Group. The Board has decided that, given the small number of employees, resources are best
used elsewhere to facilitate good corporate governance and capital appreciation. The Group also maintains close relations
with all employees to allow for feedback and support, meaning that ethical values and behaviors are recognized, closely
monitored, understood and respected.

Communication with Shareholders

The Group is strongly committed to the maintenance of good investor relations and seeks, wherever possible, to build a
relationship of mutual understanding with both its institutional and private client investors. Additionally, the Board seeks to
meet with shareholders whenever possible and to use the Group’s website (www.motifbio.com) to communicate with all
shareholders. Further queries are welcome and should be directed to ir@motifbio.com.

By order of the Board
Bruce Williams

Interim Non-executive Chairman
April 15, 2019
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Audit Committee Report

INTRODUCTION FROM THE CHAIR

As Chair, | am pleased to present the Audit Committee (Committee) report for the year ended December 31, 2018. This
report details the work of the Committee over the past year, fulfilling our responsibilities to provide effective governance
over the Group’s financial activities.

Committee Composition
The Committee members, apart from myself, are Bruce Williams and Dr. Craig Albanese.

The Committee, as a whole, has competence relevant to the biotech industry and | am a Chartered Accountant and | also
chair the Audit Committee for other public companies. More information about the Committee members can be found on
pages 9 and 10.

Committee Role and Responsibilities

The Committee has written Terms of Reference, which are available to view in the Investor section on the Group’s website,
www.motifbio.com. The Terms of Reference define the Committee’s responsibilities and duties. In addition to the Terms of
Reference, the Committee has developed an annual agenda which corresponds with the meeting schedule, to ensure all key
responsibilities are completed and managed.

The Committee met four times during the year. The auditors attended three of these meetings. The Committee also met
with the auditors without the presence of Executive Directors or management.

Committee discussions during the year included the following key items:
e internal control framework
e accounting policies (including new IFRS accounting standards 9, 15 and 16)
e financial results
¢ intangible asset valuation
e derivative financial liabilities
® intra-group transactions
e going concern review
e internal audit function
e engagement and review of performance of the auditor
e review of audit and non-audit services and fees
e cyber risk and data protection
e review of key policies including whistleblowing, anti-bribery and tax evasion
¢ the Committee Terms of Reference, and
e Committee effectiveness.

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES CONSIDERED BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE DURING THE YEAR

Internal Control Framework and Associated Risks

During the year, the Committee reviewed the Group’s internal control framework and considered and identified risks and
uncertainties to which the Group is exposed, the procedures in place to mitigate those risks and uncertainties and the
potential impact on the Group. The Committee is satisfied that the Group has in place fit for purpose systems for risk
management.

Internal Audit Function

The Committee has concluded that an internal audit function is not currently necessary due to the small size of the Group
and the close supervision by the senior leadership team of its day-to-day operations. However, the Audit Committee will
continue to keep this under review.

Key Accounting Issues

Carrying Value of Intangible Assets, Intercompany Receivable and Subsidiary Investment

The Committee noted that at the year-end 2018 the Group balance sheet has $6.2 million (2017: $6.2 million) of intangible
assets which arose on the acquisition of Nuprim’s iclaprim assets in 2015 as well as $100 million (2017: $88 million) of
intercompany receivables and subsidiary investments on the Company balance sheet.

The Committee discussed the competitive landscape and regulatory rulings that could increase the likelihood of the iclaprim
asset being impaired. In addition, the Committee analyzed the impact of the receipt of a Complete Response Letter from the
U.S. Food & Drug Administration regarding the New Drug Application for iclaprim for the treatment of acute bacterial skin
and skin structure infections, as announced in February 2019, which states that the FDA cannot approve the NDA in its
present form and indicates that additional data is needed to further evaluate the risk for liver toxicity before the NDA may
be approved.
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Taking the CRL into account and following a discussion on managements’ forecast cash flow model for the iclaprim drug,
including the assumptions used in respect of revenue assumptions, growth rates, forecast costs, probability of success and
discount rates, as well as stress testing these assumptions, the Committee concluded that the carrying value of intangible
asset on both the Group and Company balance sheets and the intercompany receivable and subsidiary investment on
Company balance sheet remain appropriate at December 31, 2018 and the date of this report.

Going Concern

The Committee, at the request of the Board, considered the ability of the Group and Company to adopt the going concern
basis for the preparation of the Financial Statements. Having reviewed the Group’s financial position, the Committee notes
that the Group and Company will be required to raise additional capital within the next year to continue the development
and potential commercialization of current and future product candidates and to continue to fund operations at the current
cash expenditure level and notes that the Group and Company cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on
acceptable terms, or at all.

At the date when these financial statements were approved, the Directors believe that the matters identified by the U.S.
Food & Drug Administration as communicated in its Complete Response Letter are addressable and that routes to raise funds
are available. As aresult, these financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Group and Company
will continue as a going concern. However, due to the Group’s and Company’s recurring and expected continuing operating
losses, as well as significant outstanding payables and accrued expenses, the Directors have concluded there is a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for at least
one year from the date of issuance of these financial statements. The financial statements do not include any adjustments
that might result from this uncertainty. Going Concern is further described in Note 1 of this Annual Report.

Derivative financial liabilities

The Committee noted the fair value of the derivative financial liabilities recognized on the year-end balance sheet of $5.8m,
which represented share warrants issued to investors as part of the IPO in November 2016 and as part of the secured term
loan from Hercules in 2017. The committee discussed and considered the judgement applied by management in estimating
the fair value of the warrants at year end, including the use of the Black-Scholes model, and inputs such as share price,
volatility, future dividends and risk free rate. The committee concluded that the resulting fair value of the derivative financial
liabilities was appropriate.

Financial Reporting

The Board has asked the Committee to confirm that in its opinion the Annual Report as a whole can be taken as fair, balanced
and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s financial position,
performance, business model and strategy. In doing so the Committee has given consideration to:

e the way the Strategic Reports (including the Interim Chairman’s Statement and the CEO Report) present the Group;

e whether suitable accounting policies have been adopted and have challenged the robustness of significant management
judgements and estimates reflected in the Financial Statements;

e the extensive levels of review that are undertaken in the production process, by both management and advisers; and

e the Group’s internal control environment.

As a result of the work performed, the Committee has concluded that the Annual Report for the year-ended December 31,
2018, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to
assess the Group’s performance, business model and strategy, and it has reported on these findings to the Board.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Audit

The scope of the annual audit was agreed in advance, with the Committee focusing on areas of audit risk and the appropriate
level of audit materiality. The Committee also had discussions with the auditor regarding fees, internal controls, accounting
policies and areas of critical accounting estimates and judgements. The auditors reported to the Committee on the results
of the audit work and highlighted any issue which the audit work had discovered, or the Committee had previously identified
as significant or material in the context of the Financial Statements.

There were no adverse matters brought to the Audit Committee’s attention in respect of the 2018 audit, which were material
or significant or which should be brought to Shareholders’ attention. However, the Group does recognize the existence of
two material weaknesses in its internal controls over financial reporting as further described in the Strategy, Risk
Management and Internal Controls section of the Corporate Governance Report.
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Effectiveness

The Committee monitored and evaluated the effectiveness of the auditors under the terms of their appointment based on
an assessment of their performance, qualification, knowledge, expertise and resources. The auditors’ effectiveness was also
considered along with other factors such as audit planning and interpretations of accounting standards and separate
discussions with Management (without the auditor present) and with the auditors (without Management present). The Chair
of the Audit Committee also had discussions with the audit partner outside the formal meetings throughout the year. The
Committee was satisfied that the audit was effective and that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP continues to demonstrate the
skills and experience needed to fulfill its duties effectively.

Independence

In order to fulfill the Committee’s responsibility regarding independence of the auditor, the Committee reviewed the senior
staffing of the audit, the auditor’s arrangements concerning any conflicts of interest, the extent of any non-audit services,
the auditor’s independence statement and any other issues that may affect the auditor’s independence. The Committee was
satisfied that the auditor remains independent.

Charlotta Ginman
Chair of the Audit Committee
April 15, 2019
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Directors' Remuneration Report

Statement by Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Remuneration Committee, | am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended
December 31, 2018. The Remuneration Committee was established in April 2015 and is required to be comprised of three
Non-executive Directors. Our Remuneration Policy for Executive and Non-executive Directors was approved by our
shareholders at our 2017 Annual General Meeting. The foundation of our Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors is to
align the interests of our Executive Directors with that of our shareholders, while achieving the following:

e  Attract, motivate and retain experienced and talented Executive Directors by providing competitive remuneration
packages that take into account their expertise, experience and performance;

e  Offer market-based fixed components of remuneration such as salary and benefits;

e  Ensure that a significant portion of Executive Director remuneration is granted annually in a mix of short-term and long-
term incentives that meaningfully reflect individual and Company performance;

e  Provide operational flexibility in the amounts payable under our remuneration program to accommodate the judicious
allocation of the Company’s resources as we seek to compete commercially with iclaprim and further expand its clinical
development; and

e  Balance the broad compensation practices in both the United Kingdom and the United States, as the Company is dual
listed on the AIM and NASDAQ exchanges.

We believe that our Remuneration Policy will continue to enable the Company to attract and retain high quality Executive
and Non-executive Directors for the next two years. Our Remuneration Policy is detailed further on pages 21 to 23.

Key decisions in the year ended December 31, 2018 and through the date of this report

e 2018 performance bonuses were earned and accrued for in 2018 in accordance with a set of goals, including a weighting
of such goals, which were prospectively defined in early 2018;

e  Consistent with our remuneration policy, in February 2019, the Remuneration Committee confirmed the cash bonus for
Dr. Lumsden, our Chief Executive Officer, in the amount of $214,000 for his performance and contributions during 2018;

e In confirming the accrued 2018 bonus for Dr. Lumsden and other members of management, the Committee took note
of the essential need to retain a motivated management team, despite the substantial loss in the equity value of the
Company;

e InFebruary 2018, increased the 2018 base salary of the Chief Executive Officer to US$446,250 per annum which remains
in effect for 2019;

e  Entered into a short-term employment agreement with Jonathan Gold for his interim role as Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Director; the effective date of the agreement was February 2, 2018 for an initial service period through June
2018 and was subsequently extended for short-term periods; the current service period concludes at the end of June
2019;

e  Maintained the annual fee structure for the Board of Directors whose remuneration was proposed by our external
consultants, Pearl Meyer & Partners LLC, and adopted by the Board in January of 2017 (Chairman US$107,000; Non—
executive Directors US$50,000; Audit Committee chair and member US$15,000 and USS7,500, respectively;
Remuneration Committee chair and member US$12,500 and USS$6,500, respectively; Nominating Committee chair and
member US$10,000 and USS$5,000, respectively; and

e Set management team objectives for 2019 against which performance will be measured in early 2020.

e  The decisions of the Committee related to compensation for 2019 are expected to take into consideration for the need
to maintain a motivated management team as the Company works with the FDA towards defining the best path forward
for Iclaprim and pursue additional pipeline opportunities;

2018 was a productive year for the company, marked in particular by the submission of a new drug application to the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration in June. Attracting and retaining highly qualified and motivated executive team will be critical in the years
ahead as the Company and the management team works tirelessly with the FDA to define the best path forward to move
iclaprim towards approval, and to pursue other pipeline opportunities.
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Remuneration Policy Report
The information provided in this part of the Directors' Remuneration Report is not subject to audit.

The Remuneration Policy Report (“Policy”) was approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) held in
June 2017. The Policy provides a framework for execution of the Company's remuneration strategy from the date of the AGM
and is intended to last for a period of three years, unless changes to the Policy are required earlier. If changes are required,
Motif Bio plc (“Motif” or the “Company”) will seek earlier shareholder approval.

The Policy aims to establish remuneration programs that provide an appropriate mix of rewards, incentives, and benefits that
are balanced across fixed and variable pay, as well as short- and long-term performance.

The Policy seeks to ensure that remuneration levels for the Company's Executive Directors take into account their skills and
experience, the nature and complexity of their responsibilities, relevant market comparisons, and their performance.
Policy summary

The policy table below describes the Company's current and future remuneration policy for Directors and provides details as to
how each element is expected to operate.

Purpose Operation Maximum opportunity Performance

Executive Directors

Salary Recognizes the skills, e Position salary levels for e Salary increases for the e Review takes account of

experience and expertise
of the role and provides
the basis for a competitive
remuneration package.

Executive Directors at a
level calculated to attract
and retain experienced,
skilled executive talent,
with reference to: relevant
experience and time in the
role; compensation of
similarly situated
executives at companies in
an appropriately
constituted peer company;
general economic
environment; and
individual performance.

e Salaries normally are
reviewed annually.

e Any salary increases take
effect from the start of the
financial year.

Executive Directors normally
are expected to be broadly
in line with inflation, and the
Committee will consider
average salary increases for
Executives in an appropriate
peer company with whom
Motif competes for talent to
ensure the Company
remains competitive, as well
as the individual's personal
performance and experience
in the role.

At the Committee's
discretion, higher than
normal increases may be
granted to reflect changes in
role size or complexity, which
have resulted in salary falling
below competitive market
levels for the enhanced
responsibilities of the role.

For the year ended
December 31, 2018, the
salary level for the Chief
Executive Officer was
US$446,250 and remains in
effect for 2019.

individual performance and
contribution to the Company
during the year.
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Purpose

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance

Executive Directors

Pension Provides market There is no separate ¢ Individual employees may e N/A
competitive pension pension scheme in place contribute up to US
benefits to encourage and that covers only Executive $19,000 of salary per
enable executives to build Directors. The Company annum.
savings for their offers aretirementplanto |4 The employer-paid element
retirement. all US employees in of the pension provision is
accordance with currently set at 3.00%,
subsection 401(k) of the subject to allowable
Internal Revenue Code statutory maximum.
(“401(k) Plan”) in which
employees may make
voluntary pre-tax
contributions toward their
own retirement.
Company contribution
level is reviewed against
local market practices
annually.
Other benefits Protects against risks and Benefits are set in line e 100% of health insurance e N/A

provides other benefits in
line with market practice.

with local market practice
and are reviewed
periodically. Currently,
benefits include 100% of
health insurance
premiums for each
covered individual who
does not waive
participation.

premiums for each covered
individual.

Annual bonus

Aligns incentives with the
level of achievement of key
annual objectives linked to
the Company's strategy.

The Committee sets
objectives at the
beginning of each
calendar/ performance
year.

Annual performance
measures and objectives
and their relative weights
are determined with
reference to the
Company’s overall
strategy and annual
business plan and
priorities for the year.
The Committee
determines the bonus
amount at the end of the
performance year on the
basis of the Company’s
performance against the
pre-established objectives
and the individual’s
performance in the year.

e Maximum bonus
opportunity level for the
Chief Executive Officer is set
at 50% of base salary.

e Bonus amount is determined
exclusively on the basis of
performance measured at the
end of the performance year
by determining the percentage
achievement of performance
objectives established at the
beginning of the year.

e The performance measures
are considered commercially
sensitive by the Committee
given their direct link to the
business strategy and so are
not disclosed to shareholders
in advance. The Committee
will review the sensitivity of
this information following the
end of the performance period
with a view to sharing these
with shareholders as soon as
this information is no longer
deemed sensitive.

Share options

To reflect US market
practice, supporting the
recruitment and retention
of our Executive Directors
with US market experience
and expertise, and
strengthen Executive
Directors' alignment to
shareholder interests
through ownership of
Company shares.

Share option awards, or
other equity incentives,
will usually be considered
annually to support the
ownership of Company
shares. These may be
made in the form of
market value options.

e The maximum aggregate
number of shares that may
be issued under the share
option plan, including those
issued to Executive
Directors, shall be equal to
10% of the issued capital of
the Company, at any point in
time, or 29,666,024 as of
December 31, 2018. The
individual maximum number
of shares to be granted to
each Executive Director is
determined on an annual
basis by reference to
industry standards and peer
group comparisons.

e Share options granted to
Executive Directors are in
addition to the fees outlined
above.

e Share options granted before
December 31, 2017 are
subject to time-based vesting
over a period of 48 months
but are not subject to any
performance conditions.

e Share options granted after
December 31, 2017 may be
subject to performance
conditions.

22




Purpose

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance

Executive Directors

Notes

(1) Use of discretion

 the participants;

year.

e the timing of grant of a payment;
¢ the determination of the bonus payment;

¢ dealing with a change of control;

(2) Remuneration policy for other employees

In relation to the annual bonus plan, the Committee retains discretion over:

The Committee will operate the annual bonus plan according to their respective rules and in accordance with the AIM Rules and/or
the NASDAQ Rules, where applicable. The Committee retains discretion, consistent with market practice, in a number of areas with
regard to the operation and administration of this plan.

¢ determination of the treatment of leavers based on the rules of the plan and the appropriate treatment chosen; and

¢ the annual review of performance measures and weighting, and performance measures for the annual bonus plan from year to

In relation to the Company’s bonus plan, the Committee retains the ability to adjust the performance objectives and/or set
different measures if events occur (e.g. material acquisition and/or divestment of a Company business) which cause the
Committee to determine that the conditions are no longer appropriate and the amendment is required so that the conditions
achieve their original purpose and are not materially less difficult to satisfy. Any use of the above discretions would, where
relevant, be explained in the Annual Report on Remuneration.

The Company’s approach to reward and remuneration is broadly consistent across the Company; however, the Executive Director
remuneration is more heavily weighted towards variable elements of remuneration that are conditional upon the Executive
Director achieving performance targets linked to the successful delivery of strategy. This aims to create a clear link between the
value created for shareholders and remuneration received by the Executive Director. In line with this, a lower level of maximum
annual bonus/short-term incentive opportunity typically applies to other employees.

Non-executive Direc

tors (“NEDs”)

Fees

Allows the Company to
attract and retain NEDs of
a high caliber with
experience in the
Company's markets.

NEDs receive basic fees
with incremental fees
paid for additional roles
and responsibilities held,
such as Board Committee
Chairmanships and
participation.

Fee levels take into
account the required time
commitment, experience
and responsibilities of
each NED role.

Reviewed by the
Committee annually and
with regard to market
comparatives.

e Value of aggregate fees will
not exceed £500,000 in any
given year.

e Fee review takes account of
market comparatives.

Other benefits

To reimburse reasonable
travel costs for attendance
at Board meetings.

NEDs receive all
reasonable travel costs in
connection with
attendance at Board
meetings.

o All expenses will be borne
where the Committee
considers that these are
reasonable.

e N/A

Share options

To reflect US market
practice, supporting the
recruitment and retention
of NEDS with US market
experience and expertise,
and strengthen NEDS'
alignment to shareholder
interests through
ownership of Company
shares.

Share option awards will
usually be considered
annually to support the
ownership of Company
shares. These will be
made in the form of
market value options.

e The maximum aggregate
number of shares that may
be issued under the share
option plan, including those
issued to Executive
Directors, shall be equal to
10% of the issued capital of
the Company, at any point
in time, or 29,666,024 as of
December 31, 2018. The
individual maximum number
of shares to be granted to
each NED is determined on
an annual basis by reference
to industry standards and
peer group comparisons.
Share options granted to
NEDS are in addition to the
fees outlined above.

e Share options granted before
December 31, 2017 are
subject to time-based vesting
over a period of 48 months
but are not subject to any
performance conditions.

e Share options granted after
December 31, 2017 may be
subject to performance
conditions.
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Recruitment policy

The remuneration package for any new Executive Director will be set in accordance with the terms of the Company's
Remuneration Policy at the time of appointment (including salary, pension, benefits and annual bonus). It is recognized thatin
order to attract and recruit talented individuals the recruitment remuneration policy needs to maintain sufficient flexibility.
Basic salaries for Executive Directors are reviewed annually having regard to individual performance and market practice.
Each calendar year, a bonus may be granted at the discretion of the Board, having considered the recommendations of the
Remuneration Committee to reward the Executives’ contributions to the achievement of the annual performance plan, which
includes the Company’s strategic and financial targets and personal performance objectives.

To facilitate recruitment, the Committee may offer additional cash and/or share-based remuneration to take account of and
compensate for remuneration that the Executive Director is required to relinquish when leaving a former employer. The
Committee will seek to structure any such replacement awards to be no more generous overall in terms of quantum or vesting
than the award to be forfeited from the previous employer and will take into account the timing, form and performance
requirements of the awards forgone.

For an internal Executive Director appointment, any variable pay element granted in respect of the prior role will be allowed
to pay out according to its terms. In addition, any other contractual remuneration obligations existing prior to appointment
may continue.

For external and internal appointments, the Committee may agree that the Company will provide reasonable relocation
support.

In all cases, the Committee will ensure that decisions made are in the best interests of the Company.

The remuneration for any Non-executive Director appointments will be set in accordance with the prevailing policy and no
additional payments will be made.

Policy on payments for loss of office
The Chief Executive Officer has a service contract with a notice period to the Company of twelve months.

There is no automatic entitlement to any bonus payment, or proportion thereof, upon loss of office; however, the
Remuneration Committee may exercise its discretion to make such a payment, taking into consideration performance to the
date of cessation of employment and time in role in that calendar/performance year. Any bonus paid will be time pro-rated
unless, at the discretion of the Committee, it is deemed appropriate to award a full bonus (for example in cases of cessation
by way of death, illness, injury, disability or retirement). Holders of share options who cease to be employees or directors to
the Company will normally forfeit unvested options. Other than in the case of termination for cause, vested options may
normally be exercised for a limited period of time following termination.

The Committee reserves the right to make payments it considers reasonable under a compromise or settlement agreement,
including payment or reimbursement of reasonable legal and professional fees, and any payment in respect of statutory rights
under employment law in the U.K. or other jurisdictions. Payment or reimbursement of reasonable outplacement fees may
also be provided.

Service contracts

In April 2015, the Company entered into a service agreement with Dr. Graham Lumsden pursuant to which Dr. Lumsden is
employed as our Chief Executive Officer on a full-time basis. Under the terms of the agreement Dr. Lumsden received an initial
gross annual salary of $360,000, which our Board has subsequently increased to his currently gross annual salary of $446,250.
Dr. Lumsden is also eligible to participate in the Company’s discretionary annual bonus program in an amount to be
determined by the Board of Directors in its absolute discretion. The agreement contains customary confidentiality, non-
competition and non-solicitation provisions.

Dr. Lumsden is employed by us on a permanent contract. In March 2018, we amended our service agreement with Dr.
Lumsden to provide for a six-month notice period for termination by either party. Subsequently, in February 2019, we
amended the service agreement to provide for a twelve-month notice period.

In addition, the Company may terminate Dr. Lumsden’s employment without notice in certain circumstances by making a
payment to Dr. Lumsden in lieu of notice, which payment will be equal to the portion of his annual salary due him for the
duration of the notice period. The agreement also contains garden leave provisions which can be utilized in the event that Dr.
Lumsden’s employment is terminated by the Company.
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Motif Bio plc entered into a consultancy agreement with Amphion Innovations plc for Robert Bertoldi, an employee of
Amphion Innovations plc. The term of this agreement is twelve months, automatically renewing each year on the anniversary,
subject to cancellation by either party by giving 90-day written notice. Notice was provided in September 2018 to terminate
this agreement as of December 31, 2018.

Motif Bio plc entered into a short-term employment agreement with Jonathan Gold for his interim role as Chief Financial
Officer and Executive Director. The effective date of this agreement was February 2, 2018 for an initial service period through
June 2018. Under the terms of the agreement, Mr. Gold was eligible for a maximum target performance bonus of $150,000
for the initial service period, which was subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors. The agreement was further
extended to continue for short-term periods on September 28, 2018, December 6, 2018 and March 11, 2019. Mr. Gold
received an additional performance bonus of $100,000 for services from July to December 2018, where was subject to the
discretion of the Board of Directors. Under the terms of the amended employment agreement, the service period currently
concludes at the end of June 2019 and provides, cumulatively with amendments, an aggregate gross salary of $612,500 and
$300,000 for Mr. Gold’s services in 2018 and 2019 (for remaining service period), respectively. The employment agreement
was and continues to be short-term in nature and does not contain provisions for severance or similar provisions. The
compensation rate was set taking into account the expected short-term nature of the assignment, limited equity incentives
and the lack of severance provisions. A pre-existing consulting service agreement with Mr. Gold was temporarily suspended
as of December 31, 2017. Mr. Gold is currently considered an Executive Director on the Company’s Board of Directors.

The Committee considers these Directors’ notice periods to be appropriate as they are in line with the market and take account
of the Directors’ knowledge and experience.

Details of Directors' service contracts or letters of appointment are as follows:

Director Date of service contract/letter of Notice period
appointment
Executive
Graham Lumsden 1 April 2015 Twelve months
Jonathan Gold (1) 1 April 2015 N/A

Non-Executive

Richard Morgan () 1 April 2015 N/A
Robert Bertoldi ) 1 April 2015 N/A
Charlotta Ginman 1 April 2015 N/A
Zaki Hosny 1 April 2015 N/A
Mary Lake Polan 1 April 2015 N/A
Bruce Williams 1 April 2015 N/A
Craig Albanese 4 May 2017 N/A

(M Effective February 2, 2018 Jonathan Gold assumed the role of Chief Financial Officer to and is considered an Executive Director.

@ Effective March 18, 2019, Richard Morgan Resigned from the Board of Directors.

@) Effective July 16, 2018, Mr. Bertoldi voluntary resigned from the Board of Directors. Mr. Bertoldi continued to provide consultancy services under the
terms of the consultancy agreement with Amphion Innovation plc until December 31, 2018, or effective termination date. The 2018 remuneration
represents consideration paid to Mr. Bertoldi during the entire year.

All of the Company’s Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first annual general meeting after their
appointment to the Board. Following this initial appointment by the shareholders, the Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation. At each AGM of the Company, one-third of the Directors or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to one-third shall retire from office by rotation. A director who retires at a general meeting shall be eligible
for reappointment if such director is willing to be re-elected. In addition, a non-executive director who would not otherwise
be required to retire at an annual general meeting will retire if he or she has been in office for a continuous period of nine years
or more at the date of the meeting. Such non-executive director will not be taken into account when determining the Directors
required to retire by rotation.
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lllustrations of the application of the Remuneration Policy
The chart below shows how the composition of 2018 remuneration for the Chief Executive Officer varies at different levels of
performance under the policy set out above, as a percentage of total remuneration opportunity.

Minimum — fixed elements of | This scenario assumes that the current basic salary continues to be earned in the
remuneration financial year ending December 31, 2019.

The value of benefits receivable for the year ended December 31, 2019 is assumed to be
equal to the value of benefits received in the year ended December 31, 2018 as set out in
the single total figure of remuneration on page 27.

No short-term incentive payments are assumed.

Vesting of long-term equity based incentives assumes time-based vesting. The amount
of long-term variable compensation is calculated as the number of share options that
will vest during 2019 at face value, which was determined to be the market value on the
date of grant.

Performance in line with This scenario is illustrative only and is not expected to be predictive of the financial
expectations year ending December 31, 2019 remuneration for the Chief Executive Officer.

Fixed elements of remuneration as set out above, plus:

e  On target level of short-term incentive payment is taken to be 40% of basic salary,
being the current best estimate of the average bonus likely to be granted by the
Remuneration Committee in years when performance is in line with expectations.

e Vesting of long-term equity based incentives assumes time-based vesting. The
amount of long-term variable compensation is calculated as the number of share
options that will vest during 2018 at face value, which was determined to be the
market value on the date of grant.

Maximum remuneration This scenario is illustrative only and is not expected to be predictive of the financial
receivable year ending December 31, 2019 remuneration for the Chief Executive Officer.

Fixed elements of remuneration as set out above, plus:

e The maximum level of short-term incentive payment is assumed to be equivalent to
50% of basic salary.

e Vesting of long-term equity based incentives assumes time-based vesting. The
amount of long-term variable compensation is calculated as the number of share
options that will vest during 2018 at face value, which was determined to be the
market value on the date of grant.
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Statement of consideration of employee conditions elsewhere in the Company
The Remuneration Committee considers the pay and conditions of the wider employee workforce when setting the
Remuneration Policy for the Executive Directors. Employees have not been consulted directly in relation to decisions on the

Remuneration Policy of the Executive Directors but the Remuneration Committee will keep this under review.

Statement of shareholder views

The Remuneration Committee considers shareholder feedback received in relation to the AGM each year as well as any
additional feedback received throughout the year. This feedback, so far as it relates to remuneration, is then considered by
the Company in its annual review of the appropriateness of its Remuneration Policy. Should any material changes be
anticipated in the Remuneration Policy, the Company will seek to engage directly with major shareholders where appropriate

ahead of submitting a revised Policy to shareholder vote.

Annual Report on Remuneration

The information provided in this part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report is subject to audit.

Single total figure of remuneration for each Director (subject to audit)

The Directors received the following remuneration for the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

Year ended December 31, 2018 Salaries Short-term Long-term Benefits Social 2018
and fees incentives incentives (5) in kind security Total
uss$ uUss$ uUss uss Uss$ uss
Executive
Graham Lumsden®®) 446,250 264,000 20,705 — 16,389 747,344
Jonathan Gold®@®) 612,500 250,000 — — 19,017 881,517
Non-executive
Craig Albanese 57,500 — — — — 57,500
Richard Morgan®® 113,500 — — — — 113,500
Robert Bertoldi®(™ 125,000 — — — 9,563 134,563
Charlotta Ginman® 69,680 — — — — 69,680
Zaki Hosny 62,500 — — — — 62,500
Mary Lake Polan 60,000 — — — — 60,000
Bruce Williams® 64,000 — — — — 64,000
Total 1,610,930 514,000 20,705 — 44,969 2,190,604

(1) On February 25, 2019, the Board of Directors granted Dr. Lumsden, our Chief Executive Officer, a cash bonus of US$214,000 or 120% of his target bonus,

for his performance and contributions during 2018. In addition, during 2018, Dr. Lumsden received $50,000 for achieving the operational milestones
related to the supplemental bonus provided for in the previous year.

(2) The 2018 remuneration represents consideration paid to Mr. Gold for his services as Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director. A cash bonus of
US$100,000 was granted by the Board of Directors for Mr. Gold’s services from July through December of 2018. Mr. Gold was also provided a cash bonus
of US$150,000 during 2018 for his services from February to June of 2018.

(3) Effective March 18, 2019, Mr. Morgan voluntary resigned from the Board of Directors. Bruce Williams was appointed as interim Chairman at that time.

(4) Effective July 16, 2018, Mr. Bertoldi voluntarily resigned from the Board of Directors. Mr. Bertoldi continued to provide consultancy services under the
terms of the consultancy agreement with Amphion Innovation plc until December 31, 2018, or effective termination date. The 2018 remuneration
represents consideration paid to Mr. Bertoldi during the entire year.

(5) Ms. Ginman is based in the U.K. and remuneration is provided for in Sterling. Total remuneration for 2018 was £52,195 or US$69,680 based on an average
exchange rate of 1.335 for the year.

(6) The value of long-term incentives is calculated as the number of options vested during the year multiplied by the Company’s share price on the vesting
date, less the amount that would be paid to exercise those vested options.

(7) Total remuneration for Dr. Lumsden, Mr. Gold and Mr. Bertoldi exclude employer 401k pension contributions of $8,100, $8,100 and $3,750, respectively,

during 2018.
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Year ended December 31, 2017 Salaries Short-term Long-term Benefits Social 2017

and fees incentives incentives (2) in kind security Total
uss uss uss uss uss uss
Executive
Graham Lumsden® 425,000 127,500 327,327 - 15,499 895,326
Non-executive
Craig Albanese 38,333 - - - - 38,333
Richard Morgan 113,500 - 52,111 - - 165,611
Robert Bertoldi®® 125,000 - 26,055 - 9,563 160,618
Charlotta Ginman® 67,279 - 34,740 - - 102,019
Jonathan Gold® 194,004 - 26,055 - - 220,059
Zaki Hosny 63,000 - 26,055 - - 89,055
Mary Lake Polan 60,000 - 26,055 - - 86,055
Bruce Williams 64,000 - 26,055 - - 90,055
Total 1,150,116 127,500 544,453 - 25,062 1,847,131

(1)  OnFebruary 28,2018, the Board granted Dr. Lumsden a cash bonus of $127,500, or 75% of his target opportunity, for his performance and contributions during 2017. A
portion, or $42,500, of the cash bonus is contingent upon achieving certain operational milestones in 2018, which were not achieved. In addition, Dr. Lumsden received
a supplemental bonus of $50,000 that was also contingent upon operational milestones in the first half of 2018. These milestones were achieved.

(2) The value of long-term incentives is calculated as the number of options vested during the year multiplied by the Company’s share price on the vesting date, less the
amount that would be paid to exercise those vested options.

(3) Total salaries and fees paid to Mr. Bertoldi and Mr. Gold include $50,000 and $53,125, respectively, for services rendered as a Board and committee member.

(4) Ms. Ginman’s remuneration for 2017 was £52,195 or US $67,279 based on an average exchange rate of 1.289 for the year.

Short-term incentive payments made during the financial year (subject to audit)

For the year ended December 31, 2018, a short-term incentive payment of US$214,000 (2017: $127,500) was granted to Dr. Lumsden
on February 25, 2019 for his performance against objectives in the 2018 Performance Plan. In addition, Mr. Gold was provided short-
term incentive awards of US$100,000, for his services from July through December of 2018, and US$150,000 during 2018, for his services
from February to June of 2018.

Long-term incentive payments made during the financial year (subject to audit)

No share options were granted to Directors during the year ended December 31, 2018, except for share options to purchase 3,000,000
ordinary shares granted to Dr. Lumsden and 1,000,000 shares granted to Mr. Gold. These option awards vest in multiple tranches, of
which the maximum vesting period is 48 months. The commencement of vesting for a portion of the awards provided to Dr. Lumsden
and Mr. Gold were triggered by the achievement of performance milestones during the year.

Long-term incentive payments vesting during the financial year (subject to audit)
The Company’s options are subject to time based vesting. During the year ended December 31, 2018, 1,773,932 options vested, with a
total value of US $32,600.
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Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests (subject to audit)
The table below details the total number of shares owned (including their beneficial interests), the total number of share options held with
and without performance conditions, the number of share options vested but not exercised and those exercised during 2018.

Options
Unvested Unvested
with without Vested not Exercised Total
Shares performance performance yet during the (shares and
owned conditions conditions exercised year options)
Executive

Graham Lumsden - - 3,450,017 4,698,783 - 8,148,800
Jonathan Gold 148,608 - 755,218 575,723 - 1,479,549

Non-executive
Richard Morgan® 190,916 - - 582,344 - 773,260
Craig Albanese - - 58,340 41,660 - 100,000
Robert Bertoldi® 61,251 - - 305,362 - 366,613
Charlotta Ginman 125,000 - - 251,475 - 376,475
Zaki Hosny 215,550 - - 430,094 - 645,644
Mary Lake Polan 13,000 - - 323,971 - 336,971
Bruce Williams® 105,350 - - 422,118 - 527,468
Total 859,675 - 4,263,575 7,631,530 12,754,780

(1) Effective March 18, 2019, Mr. Morgan voluntary resigned from the Board of Directors. Bruce Williams was appointed as interim Chairman at that time.

(2) Effective July 16, 2018, Mr. Bertoldi voluntary resigned from the Board of Directors.
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The interests of the Directors in the Company’s share options at December 31, 2018 are as follows:

Date from
January 1, December 31, Exercise price which
2018 Granted 2018 uUs$ Grant date Expiry date exercisable
Executive
Graham Lumsden (V) 574,800 - 574,800 $0.14 25 May 2013 25 May 2023 Note (i)
2,874,000 - 2,874,000 $0.14 4 Dec 2014 4 Dec 2024 Note (i)
1,000,000 - 1,000,000 $0.33 7 Feb 2017 7 Feb 2027 Note (ii)
700,000 - 700,000 $0.33 7 Feb 2017 7 Feb 2027 Note (iii)
- 2,000,000 2,000,000 $0.50 28 Feb 2018 28 Feb 2028 Note (iv)
- 1,000,000 1,000,000 $0.50 28 Feb 2018 28 Feb 2028 Note (v)
5,148,800 3,000,000 8,148,800
Jonathan Gold 73,502 - 73,502 $0.70 1Jan 2010 1Jan 2020 Note (i)
5,964 - 5,964 $0.70 1Jan 2011 1Jan 2021 Note (i)
251,475 - 251,475 $0.14 4 Dec 2014 4 Dec 2024 Note (i)
- 1,000,000 1,000,000 $0.50 28 Feb 2018 28 Feb 2028 Note (vii)
330,941 1,000,000 1,330,941
Non-executive
Richard Morgan(® 73,215 - 73,215 $0.70 1Jan 2010 1Jan 2020 Note (i)
6,179 - 6,179 $0.70 1Jan 2011 1Jan 2021 Note (i)
502,950 - 502,950 $0.14 4 Dec 2014 4 Dec 2024 Note (i)
582,344 - 582,344
Craig Albanese 100,000 - 100,000 $0.44 4 May 2017 4 May 2027 Note (vi)
100,000 - 100,000
Robert Bertoldi? 53,887 - 53,887 $0.70 1Jan 2010 1Jan 2020 Note (i)
251,475 - 251,475 $0.14 4 Dec 2014 4 Dec 2024 Note (i)
305,362 - 305,362
Charlotta Ginman 251,475 - 251,475 $0.14 4 Dec 2014 4 Dec 2024 Note (i)
251,475 — 251,475
Zaki Hosny 53,888 - 53,888 $0.70 18 Jun 2009 18 Jun 2019 Note (i)
14,370 - 14,370 $0.70 1Jan 2010 1Jan 2020 Note (i)
2,587 - 2,587 $0.70 1Jan 2011 1Jan 2021 Note (i)
107,774 - 107,774 $s0.14 30Jan 2013 30Jan 2023 Note (i)
251,475 - 251,475 $0.14 4 Dec 2014 4 Dec 2024 Note (i)
430,094 - 430,094
Mary Lake Polan 67,036 - 67,036 $0.70 1Jan 2010 1Jan 2020 Note (i)
5,461 - 5,461 $0.70 1Jan 2011 1Jan 2021 Note (i)
251,474 - 251,474 $0.14 4 Dec 2014 4 Dec 2024 Note (i)
323,971 - 323,971
Bruce Williams(t) 67,252 - 67,252 $0.70 1Jan 2010 1Jan 2020 Note (i)
28,740 - 28,740 $0.70 16 Jan 2010 16 Jan 2020 Note (i)
71,850 - 71,850 $0.70 15 Nov 2010 15 Nov 2020 Note (i)
2,802 - 2,802 $0.70 1Jan 2011 1Jan 2021 Note (i)
251,474 - 251,474 $0.14 4 Dec 2014 4 Dec 2024 Note (i)
422,118 - 422,118

(i)  Options are fully vested and available for exercise at December 31, 2018.
(i) Options vest in equal tranches over 48 months starting March 2017.

(ili) Options vest in equal tranches over 48 months starting in May 2017.

(iv) Options vest in equal tranches over 48 months starting in June 2018.

(v) Options vest in equal tranches over 48 months starting in March 2018.
(vi) Options vest in equal tranches over 48 months starting in June 2017.

(vii) Options are divided into four tranches of 250,000. Options for the first tranche vest in equal monthly increments over 48 months commencing March 2018. Options
for the second and third tranches vest in equal monthly increments over 48 months commencing May 2018. Options for the fourth tranche vest in equal monthly

increments over 12 months commencing June 2018.
(1)  Effective March 18, 2019, Mr. Morgan voluntary resigned from the Board of Directors. Bruce Williams was appointed as interim Chairman at that time.

(2) Effective July 16, 2018, Mr. Bertoldi voluntary resigned from the Board of Directors.
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lllustrations of total shareholder return

The graph below shows the daily movements of £100 invested in Motif Bio plc on April 2, 2015 compared with the value of £100 invested
in the FTSE: AIM Index through December 31, 2018. The Company has chosen to use the FTSE: AIM Index as they consider this index to
be the most suitable comparator index for the business as an AIM-traded company.
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The graph below shows the daily movements of US $100 invested in Motif Bio plc’s American Depositary Shares on November 23, 2016
compared with the value of US $100 invested in the NASDAQ Biotech Index through December 31, 2018. The Company has chosen to
use the NASDAQ Biotech Index because it is the most suitable comparator index for US-listed shares in the Company’s sector.
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Chief Executive Officer total remuneration history

Year Ended December 31 CEO single figure of Short-term incentive Long-term incentive
total remuneration payout against vesting rates against
maximum  maximum opportunity ¥

(1)

()

(3)

(4)

(5)

uss uss uUss
2018 Dr. Lumsden® 726,639 96%
2017 Dr. Lumsden® 567,999 60% -
2016 Dr. Lumsden® 488,510 24% -
2015 Dr. Lumsden® 557,180 125% -

On February 25, 2019, the Board of Directors granted Dr. Lumsden, our Chief Executive Officer, a cash bonus of US$214,000 or 120% of his target opportunity, for his
performance and contributions during 2018. The percentage displayed above regarding target opportunity and short-term incentive payout against maximum excludes
the supplement bonus award received in 2018 noted below.

On February 28, 2018, the Board granted Dr. Lumsden a cash bonus of $127,500, or 75% of his target opportunity, for his performance and contributions during 2017.
A portion, or $42,500, of the cash bonus was contingent upon achieving certain operational milestones in 2018 which were not achieved. In addition, Dr. Lumsden
received a supplemental bonus of $50,000 that was also contingent upon operational milestones in the first half of 2018. These were achieved in 2018 and is included
in his 2018 remuneration figures above.

Dr. Lumsden was granted a short-term incentive payment of US $100,000 for his performance against objectives in the 2016 Performance Plan. Half of the payment was
payable immediately and the remaining half was contingent upon the Company raising at least US $20 million and Dr. Lumsden’s continued service with the Company.
The calculation above does not reflect the US $50,000 contingent payment that was earned and paid in 2018.

Dr. Lumsden received a short-term incentive payment that exceeded the maximum due to his contribution to the Company successfully completing the merger with
Nuprim Inc., the AIM admission in April 2015, a secondary fund raising in July 2015 and QIDP designation from the FDA.

On February 28, 2018, Dr. Lumsden was granted an option to purchase 3,000,000 ordinary shares at £0.361 per share. The award vests over a four-year period,
2,000,000 of the options are dependent on meeting certain performance targets. All options granted to Dr. Lumsden prior to 31 December 2017 are subject to time-
based vesting over a period of 48 months and are not subject to performance conditions and, as a result, are not included in the table above.

The table below shows the percentage change in remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and the Company’s employees as a whole
between the year ended December 31, 2018 and the year ended December 31, 2017.

Percentage increase in remuneration in year ended
December 31, 2018 compared with remuneration in the
year ended December 31, 2017

CEO (1) All employees (2)
Basic salary 5% 6%
Short-term incentives 57% 71%
Taxable benefits N/A N/A

(1)
()

Dr. Lumsden’s 2018 salary was consistent with his 2017 salary and his short-term incentive was granted at a higher percent of target when compared to 2017.
The increase in basic salary and short-term incentives is primarily attributable to the changes in the finance organization during the year.

Relative importance of spend on pay

The Remuneration Committee considers the Company’s research and development expenditure relative to gross pay for all employees
as reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Loss to be the most appropriate metric for assessing overall spend on pay due to the
nature and stage of the Company’s business.

The graph below illustrates the gross pay to all employees per year as compared to research and development expenditure and the year-
on-year change.
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Application of the Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Policy applies from the date of the Company’s 2017 AGM for a period of three years. The Company retains the right
to make any payments per contractual arrangements with Executive Directors, that were entered into prior to the approval of the
Remuneration Policy.

Fixed elements of remuneration
The Chief Executive Officer’s salary for the year ending December 31, 2019 is set at $446,250.

Variable elements of remuneration

Short-term incentives

The Committee established its 2018 Performance Plan, which includes performance objectives with respect to execution of key elements
of the Company’s strategy as well as value drivers for the business, including certain financial and operational goals, including clinical
programs and business and organizational development. In the first quarter of 2019, based on Dr. Lumsden’s performance against these
objectives in 2018, the Remuneration Committee recommended and the Board of Directors approved a short-term incentive payment
of US$214,000 (2017: $127,500). In addition, Mr. Gold was provided short-term incentive awards of US$100,000, for his services from
July through December of 2018, and US$150,000 during 2018, for his services from February to June of 2018.

Long-term incentives

The Company anticipates that long-term incentives for the Executive Director will be recommended at the discretion of the Remuneration
Committee, to be granted by the Board of Directors on an annual basis. Except for the awards provided on February 28, 2018, no long-
term incentives were granted as of the date of this report.

Remuneration Committee approach to remuneration matters

The Remuneration Committee was established in April 2015 and was comprised of Zaki Hosny (Chair), Richard Morgan and Bruce Williams
in 2018. In March of 2019, Mr. Morgan resigned from the Board of Directors. The committee vacancy resulting from Mr. Morgan’s
resignation is expected to be filled later in 2019. The Remuneration Committee met eleven times in 2018.

Statement of voting at Annual General Meeting

The Company is committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue and the Remuneration Committee takes an active interest in shareholder
views and voting outcomes. Voting is held at the Company shareholder meetings and is conducted through a show of hands by
shareholders who are in attendance at the meeting, as well as any votes lodged by proxy in advance of the meeting.

Distributions to Shareholders
The Company did not provide any dividends or distributions to its shareholders during 2018.

Approval
This report was approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Zaki Hosny
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
April 15, 2019
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Motif Bio plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Motif Bio plc’s Group financial statements and Company financial statements (the “financial statements”):

e give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of the Group’s loss
and the Group’s and the Company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

e have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union and, as regards the company’s financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006;
and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report & Accounts (the “Annual Report”), which comprise: the
Consolidated and Company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2018; the Consolidated statements of comprehensive
loss, the Consolidated and Company statements of cash flows, and the Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity for
the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Material uncertainty relating to going concern — Group and Company

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosure made in
note 1 to the financial statements concerning the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Group and Company
have suffered recurring losses and negative cash flows as a result of continuing operations and commercial preparatory activities and
will require additional funding to fund ongoing operations and to continue the development and commercialisation of current product
candidates. These conditions, along with the other matters explained in note 1 to the financial statements, indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Group
and Company financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group and Company were unable to continue
as a going concern.

Explanation of material uncertainty

Note 1 to the financial statements details the Directors’ disclosures of the material uncertainty relating to going concern in respect of
the requirement to raise additional funding within 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements.

The Group and Company have incurred ongoing losses and negative cash flows as a result of costs mainly related to clinical development
and expect to continue to incur losses in future years to reach commercialisation. The Group and Company will be required to raise
additional finance within the next 12 months to fund the costs associated with the development and commercialisation of current
product candidates and ongoing working capital. Judgement is required in estimating future forecast costs and the likelihood of future
funding being available to the Group. There is no certainty that future funding will be available and the Directors have drawn attention
to this as a material uncertainty relating to going concern in the basis of preparation to the Annual Report.

What audit procedures we performed

In concluding there is a material uncertainty, our audit procedures included:

e Obtaining future cash flow forecasts for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements.
The cash flow forecasts support the fact that additional funding will be required within this period;

e  Discussing the impact of the FDA letter with management and any potential impact of this on future cash flows, including any
amendments made to debt agreements after the balance sheet date;

e Considering the Group’s plan for raising additional finance and the potential for future fundraising in the UK or US capital
markets; and
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e Reading the disclosures in note 1 to the financial statements and checking these were consistent with the Group’s plans for
future fundraising and the Group’s current funding position.

Our audit approach

Overview
e Overall group materiality: $699,000 (2017: $2,200,000), based on 5% of loss before tax.
e Overall company materiality: $240,000 (2017: $380,000), based on 5% of profit before tax.
Materiality
e We performed an audit of the complete financial information of Motif BioSciences, Inc. and Motif
Audit seope Bio plC
e Taken together, the entities audited comprised 100% of loss before tax.
Key audit

matters

e Valuation of derivative financial liabilities (Group and Company).
e Carrying value of intangible assets (Group).

e Carrying value of investments and intercompany (Company).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In
particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we also addressed the
risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)
identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures
thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to going concern, described in the Material uncertainty related to going
concern section above, we determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. This
is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of derivative financial liabilities (Group and Company)

The Group has $5.8m (2017: $12.6m) of derivative financial We obtained managements’ Black Scholes fair value models for
liabilities recognised on the balance sheet at year end. These the warrants and agreed the resulting valuation was recorded as
represent share warrants which were issued to investors as part  the fair value for the warrants at the balance sheet date.

of the IPO in November 2016, and additional warrants were We performed audit procedures over the assumptions used in
issued in 2017 to a third party, and also as part of the new respect of the share price, volatility, future dividends and risk free
secured term loan from Hercules. rate. We corroborated the appropriateness of the rates used with
The accounting for share warrants is complex and involves reference to third party data where appropriate.

management judgement in the estimation of the fair value of the We tested the derivative liability disclosures in the financial
liabilities at each year end. statements and checked these to the disclosure requirements in
We focused on this area due to the material nature of the the accounting standards.

derivative financial liabilities in the financial statements, and also  Based on our work performed we conclude that the fair value of
due to the level of judgement required in determining the fair the derivative financial liabilities is materially correct at the year-
value. end date.

Carrying value of intangible assets (Group) and investments
and intercompany (Company)

The Group balance sheet has $6.2m (2017: $6.2m) of intangible
assets which arose on the acquisition of Nuprim iclaprim assets in
2015. In addition, the Company balance sheet has $100m (2017:
$88m) of intercompany receivables and an investment in Motif
BioSciences Inc.

We obtained managements’ forecast cash flow model for the
iclaprim drug and tested the mathematical accuracy of the model
and agreed the cash flow forecasts used in the models to the
latest approved forecasts.

We performed audit procedures over the assumptions used in
respect of revenue assumptions, growth rates, forecast costs,
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Frequent changes in the competitive landscape and regulatory probability of success and discount rates. We corroborated the
rulings could increase the likelihood of the assets being impaired. appropriateness of the rates used with reference to observable
In addition, the Group announced on 14 February 2019 the market data and trends.

receipt Of? Fomplete Response Lgtter (CRL) from the US F?Od & We considered the disclosures in the financial statements around
Drug Administration (FDA) regarding the New Drug Application the sensitivity of the cash flow forecasts to the probability of

(N_DA) for iclaprim f?r the treatment of acute bacterial skinand  ¢,ccess and that future impairment charges could be recognised
skin structure infections. The CRL states that the FDA cannot if the Group is not successful in executing its CRL remediation

approve the NDA in its present form and indicates that additional effort, or in raising additional finance.
data are needed to further evaluate the risk for liver toxicity
before the NDA may be approved. The company were required to
determine if the receipt of the CRL was an adjusting post balance
sheet event to be included in the cash flows supporting the
carrying value of the intangible asset in the Group balance sheet,
and intercompany receivables and investment in the Company
balance sheet.

Based on our work performed we conclude that the carrying
value of the intangible asset in the Group balance sheet, and
intercompany and investment in the Company balance sheet at
the year end is appropriate.

We focused on this area due to the material nature of the assets
in the Group and Company balance sheets, and also due to the
level of judgement required in determining future cash flows to
support the carrying value.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements
as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in
which they operate.

The group is comprised of two entities and we performed an audit of the complete financial information of Motif Bio plc and Motif
BioSciences, Inc., due to their financial significance within the group. Taken together, the entities where we performed our audit work
accounted for 100% of group loss before tax.

In establishing the overall approach to the group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed over the
components either by us, as the group engagement team, or component auditors from other PwC network firms operating under our
instruction. As the finance operations and key management are located overseas, we engaged a PwC Network firm to perform an audit
of the consolidated Motif Bio plc financial information. The statutory audit of the Motif Bio plc company component was performed by
the group engagement team.

Members of the group engagement team were involved in the component auditor’s work throughout the audit. We maintained regular
communication and conducted a formal year-end conference call with the component team and key management. Additionally, the
group engagement team performed a site visit to the US.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These,
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit
procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both
individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Company financial statements

Overall materiality $699,000 (2017: $2,200,000). $240,000 (2017: $380,000).

How we determined it 5% of loss before tax. 5% of profit before tax.

Rationale for benchmark applied Based on the benchmarks used in the annual We believe that profit before tax is the
report, loss before tax is the primary measure primary measure used by shareholders in
used by the shareholders in assessing the assessing the performance of the entity,
performance of the group, and is a generally and is a generally accepted auditing
accepted auditing benchmark. benchmark.

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group materiality. The range
of materiality allocated across components was between $240,000 and $629,000.
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We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above $34,000 (Group
audit) (2017: $110,000) and $12,000 (Company audit) (2017: $19,150) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view,
warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any
form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are
required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies
Act 2006 have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 and ISAs (UK)
require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’
Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 12, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed
by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

e  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e the company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Richard Spilsbury (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Aberdeen

15 April 2019
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Motif Bio plc

Consolidated statements of comprehensive loss

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Continuing operations

General and administrative eXpenses ........cccccevvveereveennnenns
Research and development eXpenses .......cccveecveerveenuenns
Gains on settlement of contract disputes.........c.ccevveennnne
Operating loss ...........ccooiiiiriiiieeeeeeeee e
INtErest INCOME......ciiiiiieeee e
INTEreSt EXPENSE ..uuuii s
Net foreign exchange gains (I0SSeS) .....ocvveercieeriieenivieniieennns
Gain (loss) from revaluation of derivative liabilities...........
Loss before iNnCOmMe taxes ......occvvevveenvierveeieeesieeeieeesieeeans
INCOME taX EXPENSE ...ecuviriiieiieiieieeie et
Net loss for the year..........c.ccccceeviievcieiiieecieeceeeee e,

Total comprehensive loss for the year .............ccccoeeueeenne.

Year Year Year
ended ended ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Note uss$ uss$ uss$
4 (7,635) (8,542) (4,912)
4 (10,988) (29,475) (34,795)
4 _ — 83
(18,623) (38,017) (39,624)
4 113 134 70
4 (2,160) (275) (383)
40 (238) (251)
14 6,654 (6,392) (136)
(13,976) (44,788) (40,324)
7 (9) (22) -
(13,985) (44,810) (40,324)
(13,985) (44,810) (40,324)

8

(0.05) (0.19) (0.35)
(0.07) (0.19) (0.35)
284,530,534 231,530,091 116,558,191
287,131,688 231,530,091 116,558,191

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Motif Bio plc

Consolidated statements of financial position
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017

(in thousands)

ASSETS
Non-current assets

INTaNGIbIE @SSELS .vvvieeeciiecieccee e
Other NON-CUrrent assets.......cceeeeeeeieeeieienieneeseeeenean
Total NON-CUITeNt @SSELS.....coerueriirereereereeeeeeee e

Current assets

Prepaid expenses and other receivables ...........c.cc.........
Cash and cash equivalents........ccceceevceenciieniecsee e
Total CUITeNt @SSEtS ..cc.eeuerieieieieieresese e

TOtal @SSELS......vvviiiiiiiiiiiiiee e

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities

Term loan, net of current portion........ccccceeeeercveerveeennen.
Other non-current liabilities .........ccoovvvvviieiiiiiiiiiieeee,
Total non-current liabilities ........ccooveeviiiiiiiiiiieieeieeeie

Current liabilities

Trade payables and accrued liabilities.........cccccceeruvennnen.
Term loan, current POrtion .......ccccceeveveevcveerveeseecsiieeenn.
Payable on completion of clinical trial.........c.cccccevveenneen.
Derivative liabilities .........cccoverieriinieniieeeececeeee
Total current [iabilities......ccceveerieneiiinieeeeeee

Total liabilities...........ccoovvviiiiiiii e,

Net assets (liabilities)............ccccevvievcieiiiiincieecieeieee,

EQUITY

Share Capital c.cooveeeveeriierie e
Share PremMium ...
Group reorganization reServe......cccceeeeeeeieeieieeeeeeenn.
Accumulated defiCit.....ccccorvieiiriinieenieeeee e

Total defiCit ........oooovvviiiiiiiiiiieee e

December 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

Note uss uss
9 6,196 6,196
18 23
6,214 6,219
10 231 318
11 12,279 22,651
12,510 22,969
18,724 29,188
13 10,131 14,057
13 196 23
10,327 14,080
12 7,207 10,890
13 4,327 —
9 — 500
14 5,789 12,626
17,323 24,016
27,650 38,096
(8,926) (8,908)
16 4,032 3,589
93,456 80,873
9,938 9,938
(116,352) (103,308)
(8,926) (8,908)

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on

April 15, 2019. They were signed on its behalf by:

Director
Bruce Williams
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Motif Bio plc

Company statements of financial position
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017

(in thousands)

December 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

Note uss uss
ASSETS
Non-current assets
INVESTMENT ...t e e e err e e e e e e e eaaae e s 18 80,306 40,519
Total NON-CUMENT @SSEES ..uvviiiiiiiiiiiieeee et 80,306 40,519
Current assets
Prepaid expenses and other receivables ........c.cccccvvevceeriiiieninenns 10 154 249
Cash and cash equivalents.......ccccecceeiiieniie e 560 629
Receivable from Motif Bio INC. .....cccocviieeiiiiiciieeeeee e, 19 20,105 47,733
TOtal CUITENT ASSELS ..vvviiieeieeiiiecee ettt sreesae e 20,819 48,611
TOtal @SSLS.......oeiiiiiiiccie e e et 101,125 89,130
LIABILITIES
Trade payables and accrued liabilities.........cccecveeveeercieeniieniienns 12 176 159
Derivative llabilities ......cocovvviieiiiiiiiieeee e 14 5,789 12,626
Total current liabilities......cccvevveereeiiiecee e 5,965 12,785
Total liabilities.............ccoooviiiiiee e, 5,965 12,785
Net assets (liabilities)...........cccceevvieriiiiiiinee e 95,160 76,345
EQUITY
Share Capital cuuecuee e s 16 4,032 3,589
Share PremMiUM e 93,456 80,873
Group reorganization reserve (544) (544)
Gain (loss) for the year ..., 4,848 (8,267)
Share-based PaYMENTS ......cccviivieeciie et 941 1,708
Accumulated defiCit.......ccceeieiiiiieiiiiccee e (1,784) (7,573)
TOtal EQUILY ..ooovevieiieiiie e et 95,160 76,345

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on

April 15, 2019. They were signed on its behalf by:

Director
Bruce Williams

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Motif Bio plc

Consolidated statements of changes in equity

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
(in thousands)

Group
Share Share reorganization Accumulated
capital premium reserve deficit Total
Note us$ us $ us $ us $ us$
Balance at December 31, 2015 .................... 1,645 38,535 9,938 (20,395) 29,723
Loss for the year .......cccecvevveevceencieecieeseeee — — — (40,324) (40,324)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ......... — — — (40,324) (40,324)
Issue of share capital .......cccceeeevieeeciireennen. 16 898 18,701 — — 19,599
Cost Of ISSUANCE .....vveeeeiiieceiee e 16 — (3,370) — — (3,370)
Conversion of promissory notes................... 16 178 3,373 — — 3,551
Exercise of share options and warrants........ 16 7 110 — — 117
Share-based payments .......ccccceevveriieeeieenne. 15 — — — 513 513
Balance at December 31, 2016 .................... 2,728 57,349 9,938 (60,206) 9,809
Loss for the year ......ccccocevvveevceencieecieeieee — — — (44,810) (44,810)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ......... — — (44,810) (44,810)
Issue of share capital ........cccceeeeviieeciieeennen. 16 847 24,570 — — 25,417
Cost Of ISSUANCE .....vveeeeiiieceiee e 16 — (1,735) — — (1,735)
Exercise of share options and warrants........ 16 14 689 — — 703
Share-based payments .......ccccceevveriieeeieenne. 15 — — — 1,708 1,708
Balance at December 31, 2017 .................... 3,589 80,873 9,938 (103,308) (8,908)
Loss for the year ......ccccoceeeveevceenieeciieeeee — — — (13,985) (13,985)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ......... — — (13,985) (13,985)
Issue of share capital ........cccceeevviieeciieeennen. 16 433 12,989 — — 13,422
Cost Of ISSUANCE .....vveeeeiieeceieee e 16 — (749) — — (749)
Exercise of share options and warrants........ 16 10 343 — — 353
Share-based payments .......ccccceeveeviieeeiveenne. 15 — — — 941 941
Balance at December 31,2018 .................... 4,032 93,456 9,938 (116,352) (8,926)

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Motif Bio plc

Company statements of changes in equity

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
(in thousands)

Group
Share Share reorganization Accumulated
capital premium reserve deficit Total
Note us$ us $ us $ us $ us$
Balance at December 31,2015 .................... 1,645 38,535 (544) 952 40,588
Loss for the year .......cccecvevveevceencieecieeseeee — — — (2,222) (2,222)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ......... — — — (2,222) (2,222)
Issue of share capital .......cccceeeevieeeciireennen. 16 898 18,701 — — 19,599
Cost Of ISSUANCE .....vveeeeiiieceiee e 16 — (3,370) — — (3,370)
Conversion of promissory notes................... 16 178 3,373 — — 3,551
Exercise of share options and warrants........ 16 7 110 — — 117
Share-based payments .......ccccceevveriieeeieenne. 15 — — — 256 256
Balance at December 31, 2016..................... 2,728 57,349 (544) (1,014) 58,519
Loss for the year ......ccccocevvveevceencieecieeieee — — — (8,267) (8,267)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ......... — — (8,267) (8,267)
Issue of share capital ........cccceeeeviieeciieeennen. 16 847 24,570 — — 25,417
Cost Of ISSUANCE .....vveeeeiiieceiee e 16 — (1,735) — — (1,735)
Exercise of share options and warrants........ 16 14 689 — — 703
Share-based payments .......ccccceevveriieeeieenne. 15 — — — 1,708 1,708
Balance at December 31, 2017 .................... 3,589 80,873 (544) (7,573) 76,345
Gainfortheyear......ccccoooiieiiiiiiiiiieeecieeees — — — 4,848 4,848
Total comprehensive loss for the year ......... — — 4,848 4,848
Issue of share capital ........cccceeevviieeciieeennen. 16 433 12,989 — — 13,422
Cost Of ISSUANCE .....vveeeeiieeceieee e 16 — (749) — — (749)
Exercise of share options and warrants........ 16 10 343 — — 353
Share-based payments .......ccccceeveeviieeeiveenne. 15 — — — 941 941
Balance at December 31,2018 .................... 4,032 93,456 (544) (1,784) 95,160

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Motif Bio plc

Consolidated statements of cash flows
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(in thousands)

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2018 2017 2016
N